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QPL INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

DIRECTOR'S STATEMENT
B

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board” or “Directors”),
I hereby present the results of QPL International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 30 April 2025.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are the manufacture and sale
of integrated circuit leadframes, heatsinks, stiffeners and related
products, investment holding and money lending.

For the fiscal year under review, the Group reported a revenue
of HK$301.45 million, representing an increase of 14.75% as
compared with HK$262.70 million for the previous year. The
Group’s consolidated loss for the year amounted to HK$1.06
million as compared with HK$61.39 million for the previous year.
Basic and diluted loss per share was HKO0.37 cents and HKO0.37
cents respectively (2024: HK21.26 cents and HK21.26 cents
respectively).

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for
the year (2024: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, the Group faced many challenges
in the tough business environment and recorded an increase in
turnover by 14.75% to HK$301.45 million (2024: HK$262.70
million) during the year.
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DIRECTOR'S STATEMENT
=R

During the year, staff costs increased by 0.43% to HK$99.29
million (2024: HK$98.86 million) representing 32.94% (2024:
37.63%) of the Group’s revenue. Other operating expenses, mainly
included factory operating costs, and selling and administrative
expenses, such as repair and maintenance expenses of HK$16.50
million (2024: HK$14.89 million), electricity and water charges,
and fuel expenses of HK$20.07 million (2024: HK$21.15 million),
advertising and promotion expenses of HKS$1.81 million (2024:
HKS$2.34 million), business entertainment expenses of HK$4.24
million (2024: HK$1.17 million), legal and professional fee of
HK$2.65 million (2024: HK$2.02 million), expenses relating to
short-term leases of HK$11.60 million (2024: HK$12.16 million),
and loss on written-off of loan receivables of HK$4.25 million (2024:
HK$12.36 million), decreased by 5.42% to HKS$78.48 million
(2024: HK$82.98 million) representing 26.03% (2024: 31.59%) of
the Group’s revenue during the year. The Group will continue to
monitor the market and consequently adjust its labour force and
labour structure in order to achieve a better staff mix to enhance
labour efficiency. The Group will also continuously tighten its
expenditure in its efforts to minimise the potential impact of
increasing factory operating costs, and selling and administrative
expenses.

Besides, the financial results of the Group during the year under
review were also affected by the net fair value losses on financial
assets at FVTPL of HKS$4.17 million (2024: HK$22.00 million).
The net fair value loss on financial asset at FVTPL mainly
comprised of the fair value losses on investment in listed equity
securities of Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited (“HDA”)
(approximately HK$4.13 million). Details of the financial asset
at FVTPL are disclosed in the “Significant Investments” section
below.

PROSPECTS

The Group will continue to strengthen its engineering and
production departments in order to maintain its competitive edges
for short lead times and high production planning flexibility.
These competitive edges will enable the Group to serve its
customers better and should expand the Group’s market share.

In order to improve the Group’s operational performance, the
Group will continue to implement plans to increase its production
efficiency and capacity. In order to improve the Group’s
competitiveness and fulfill different production requirements, the
Group would deploy resources to upgrade and restructure existing
plants and machineries, and environmental protection facilities.

In addition, the Group will continue to explore other business
opportunities with a view to expanding its principal manufacturing
business and generating improved returns to our shareholders.
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QPL INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

DIRECTOR’'S STATEMENT
w R

LOAN RECEIVABLES

The Group’s money lending business is operated by an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Quality Capital Limited
(“QCL”) which is a licensed money lender in Hong Kong under
the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). The Group funds the money lending business through
internal resources. As at 30 April 2025, the Group’s gross loan
receivables amounted to HK$87.25 million and an allowance for
expected credit losses of loan receivables of HK$41.84 million was
recognised. The Group earns interest income through providing
loans to customers, including individuals and private companies.
Customers are usually from referrals from the business network
and connections of the management. The day-to-day operation
of the money lending business is mainly handled by the staff of
QCL, while all loan applications are subject to final review and
approval by the directors of the Company.

It is the business strategy of the Group to explore different
business opportunities with a view to generating improved returns
to our shareholders and to diversify its business risks. The money
lending business was initiated with a view to broaden the source
of income of the Group if it sees fit by generating interest income
to the Group, to enhance the Group’s profitability as compared to
depositing the idle cash in bank and to offer better return to the
shareholders.

In order to lower default ratio of the loan borrowing, QCL has
reviewed and flexibly adjusted the business strategies, which is to
enhance the requirements of the loan granted to the borrowers.
For example, the borrowers have to provide the asset proof or
income proof to prove they have the ability to repay the loan. As
the requirements of the loan granted to the borrowers are higher
and the risk for the loan borrowings are lower, the related interest
rate will become lower. For the loan portfolio as at 30 April 2025,
the principal amount of the loans ranged from approximately
HK$0.24 million to HKS$5.0 million with interest rates ranging
from 8.0% to 12.0% per annum. As at 30 April 2025, the Group’s
loan receivables were unsecured. As at 30 April 2025, the gross
amount of loan receivables due from the largest borrower was
approximately HK$6.38 million, being approximately 7.11% to
the loan receivables of the Group. The gross amount of loan
receivables due from the five largest borrowers was approximately
31.50% of the loan receivables of the Group. The five largest
borrowers were individuals or private companies, all of which
were third parties independent of the Company and its connected
persons (as defined in the Listing Rules). Further details of the
loan receivables are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.
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DIRECTOR'S STATEMENT
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All loans and loan agreements under the Group’s money lending
business have been granted and approved in accordance with
the Credit Policy (“Policy”) and the Money Lending Operation
Manual (“Operation Manual”) of QCL. The Policy provide the
policies to be observed by QCL for its money lending business,
and set out the objective for the money lending business is to
earn interest income to generate profits for QCL whilst avoiding
incurrence of bad debts. The Policy also provide references or
specific requirements for setting of interest rates of the loan,
the tenure of the loan and the credit assessment and approval
process of each loan. Each loan application will be considered
and approved on a case by case basis. The management of QCL
will usually take into account of the applicant’s background,
creditability, reputation, financial status, the value of the security
(if any), the applicant’s past repayment record with QCL, and the
proposed tenure, principal amount and interest rate of the loan to
consider whether a loan application will be approved and whether
a security/guarantee is needed or adequate for a loan.

The Operation Manual provides the procedures to be observed
by QCL for granting and thereafter monitoring the repayment
of the loans. In brief, the intending borrower first fills in an
application form or the intending borrower communicates in
person with the officer of QCL. The officer will then collect
documents from the intending borrower for client identification
and verification, and has to confirm/enquire if the borrower is a
connected person of the Group (as defined in the Listing Rules).
The application form will then be reviewed and/or approved by
the management of QCL. The management will draft the loan
documents in accordance with the terms specified in the approved
application form. The responsible officer of the loan application
will prepare the Memorandum for Credit Analysis (“Memorandum”)
which contains the proposed terms of the loan application, the
background information of the borrower and the analysis of the
credit risks and security. The draft loan documents together with
the Memorandum will be passed to the directors of the Company
for final approval. Based on the information in the Memorandum,
the directors of the Company makes a conclusion on the credit
risk assessment of the customer. Once the loan is approved and
granted, the management of QCL has to report the status of the
loan repayment regularly and immediately report to the Company
if any default repayment is noted.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES
As at 30 April 2025, the Group’s other payable and accrued
expenses was approximately HK$67.20 million (2024: HK$63.28
million), representing 47.33% (2024: 46.25%) of the Group’s total
liabilities.

Other payable and accrued expenses, mainly included the provision
of PRC employee severance payment of approximately HK$48.52
million (2024: HK$48.56 million) and accrued staff costs of
approximately HK$9.39 million (2024: HK$7.27 million).
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HARE

As at 30 April 2025, the financial assets at FVTPL held by the = ZF A4 WHA =+ H > AEMBFFEA R
Group were approximately HK$60.65 million (2024: HK$62.58  {H & A8 % 2 & Rl & 7 £7160,650,000i5 70 ( %
million). Details of the financial assets at FVTPL held by the - PU4E : 62,580,000 jC) o A AT A % 1t

Group were as follows: HitAHw 2 EMEENEHOT
As at
As at 30 April 2025 30 April 2024
B F A
REZZZHENA=1H WH=+H
Approximately
percentage to
Financial assets at FVTPL Fair value the total asset Fair value
i 4 2
B REFA B Z SR E W fufii WA A4 Lk o fedii
HK$’000 HKS$’000
T T T
Listed equity securities b AR 2
WLS Holdings Limited (“WLS”) I 2 A PR A7) (THERE ) 14,621 3.14 14,621
China Jicheng Holdings Limited (“CJH”) B 4E A% B A FRAS 7]
(4R R ) 10,920 2.35 10,156
China Investment and Finance Group B 45 il A A PR A T
Limited (“CIF”) (e 2 i ) 7,189 1.55 6,061
SunCorp Technologies Limited (“STL”) HHERHE A RA T (TR ]) 5,288 1.14 5,695
Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited EEBEEEEAARA
(“HDA”) ([ EETEE]D 1,758 0.38 5,890
Other listed equity securities (Note 1) Hofts b B ARE 57 (W AET) 20,871 4.49 20,155
Total At 60,647 13.05 62,578
Note: Mt -
1. As at 30 April 2025, other listed equity securities comprised 20 1. MTFETHAMA =+ H > HAl bR A
listed equity securities and none of them was more than 1% of the AR08 b T A 58 S5 - 2 o R A A AR

total assets of the Group. ER1% °
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WLS, CJH, CIF, STL and HDA are listed on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Except the Group held
approximately 635.7 million shares (approximately 4.4%) of WLS,
as at 30 April 2025, there was no investment held by the Group the
value of which was more than 3.0% of the total assets of the Group.
The total investment cost in WLS was approximately HK$11.94
million and, for the year ended 30 April 2025, there is no fair value
change on investment in WLS. The major activities of WLS are
the provision of scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services
for construction and buildings work, money lending business and
assets management business. Based on WLS’s interim report for six
months ended 31 October 2024, revenue and profit for the period
of WLS were approximately HK$46.80 million and HK$30.49
million respectively. The major activities of CJH are engaged in
the manufacturing and sales of umbrellas and umbrella parts. The
major activities of CIF are trading of securities and investment
holding. The major activities of STL are engaged in the processing
and trading of used computer-related components such as integrated
circuit chips, hard-disk and motherboards from developed countries
to developing countries; providing money lending business; securities
brokerage and underwriting business; and sales of clothes and beauty
products business. The major activities of HDA are engaged in listed
investments in Hong Kong, main stock markets around the world,
and also in unlisted companies.

The Directors considered that the future prospects of the financial
asset at FVTPL held by the Group may be affected by external
market conditions, and the Directors will continue to monitor and
assess the Group’s investment.

RAISING OF FUNDS AND USE OF
PROCEEDS

On 24 October 2022, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to place up to 45,124,422 placing shares
at a price of HK$0.20 per placing share (the “Placing”). The
placing shares were allotted and issued on 10 November 2022. Net
proceeds from the Placing was approximately HK$8.7 million (the “Net
Proceeds”) which was intended to be applied for upgrading and
renovating the Group’s existing property, plant and equipment,
and for general working capital of the Group. As at 30 April 2025,
the Net Proceeds were fully utilised as intended.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND
FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally financed its operations by internal cash
resources and bank financing. There has been no material change
in the capital structure of the Group since 30 April 2024.

As at 30 April 2025, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to HK$78.04 million (2024: HK$58.54 million).
To finance its working capital, the Group has incurred total
outstanding debts of HK$58.76 million as at 30 April 2025 (2024:
HK$52.34 million), which comprised HK$44.45 million (2024:
HK$35.37 million) of collateralised bank borrowings, HKS$2.44
million (2024: HK$2.95 million) of lease liabilities and HK$11.87
million (2024: HK$14.02 million) of other borrowings. In terms of
interest costs, included in the outstanding debts, HK$46.89 million
(2024: HK$38.32 million) was interest bearing and HK$11.87
million (2024: HK$14.02 million) was interest free.

The gearing ratio was 18.19% as at 30 April 2025 (2024: 16.1%).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s transactions and monetary assets are primarily
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars and Renminbi.
The fluctuations in currency exchange rates during the year ended
30 April 2025 did not adversely affect the Group’s operations or
liquidity.

During the year under review, no foreign exchange contract was
entered into by the Group to hedge against the Group’s exposure
to currency fluctuations and it is the policy of the Group not to
enter into any derivative contracts purely for speculative activities.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 April 2025, leasehold properties with a carrying amount
of approximately HK$89.19 million (2024: HK$93.18 million)
were pledged to secure bank borrowings granted to the Group.
As at 30 April 2025, motor vehicles with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$634,000 (2024: HK$834,000) were assets held
under lease liabilities.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the year ended 30 April 2025, the Group invested HK$3.99
million (2024: HK$4.26 million) in acquiring property, plant and
equipment. This capital expenditure was financed mainly from
internal financial resources.
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EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 30 April 2025, the total number of employees of the
Group was approximately 668 (2024: 730). The Group maintains
its emolument policy to ensure that employee remuneration is
commensurate with job nature, qualifications and experience. The
Group continues to offer competitive remuneration packages,
share options and other benefits to eligible staff, based on the
performance of the Group and of individual employees.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity
to express my gratitude to my fellow Directors and all staff for
their efforts and contribution. Besides, 1 also would like to offer
my sincere appreciation to all customers, business partners and
Shareholders for their continuing support.

By Order of the Board

Tung Siu Ching
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 July 2025
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- L] 5

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Tung Siu Ching, aged 71, has been appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company since June 2015. Ms. Tung engaged
in import and export industry for more than 25 years. She held
management positions in several trading companies and was
responsible for regional marketing strategy and internal staff
training. Ms. Tung has extensive knowledge in corporate operation
management and in marketing in the PRC and Europe.

Ms. Wu Wangfang, aged 43, has been appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company since April 2025. Ms Wu obtained
a bachelor’s degree in Finance from Twintech International
University College of Technology in Malaysia in May 2011. Ms.
Wu has been engaged in artificial intelligence (“AI”) operation for
10 years and has deep connection and relationship with people
engaged in different aspects. Prior to joining the Group, she
hold management position in a trading company in the PRC and
was responsible for implementation of AI and other advanced
technologies on its international trading business.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Chun On Franco, aged 42, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company since
September 2016. He is also a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. He is a Certified Financial Planner registered with
Institute of Financial Planners of Hong Kong and hold a
Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting and Finance
from Simon Fraser University in Canada. He is currently a
responsible officer of a licensed corporation to carry out type 1 (dealing
in securities) regulated activities under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”).

Ms. Chung Hoi Yan, aged 43, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company since
November 2016. She is also the Chairman of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee. She is a qualified member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and hold a
Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting from the City
University of Hong Kong. She has over 10 years of experience in
the auditing and the finance and accounting field.
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Mr. Liu Rongrui, aged 42, has been appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company since April 2019. He
is also the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Liu was graduated from the profession of law of
China Central Radio and TV University (41 9% EH K L) (in
cooperation with China University of Political Science and Law (
B B K &) ) in January 2014. Since 2003, he has been working
at the No. 6 Detachment of Chinese Armed Police in Shenzhen,
the PRC as propagandist of the regulation and gained extensive
knowledge in risk management and compliance.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to building and maintaining best
practice standards of corporate governance. The corporate
governance principles of the Company emphasise a quality Board,
effective internal controls, stringent disclosure practices and
transparency, independence and accountability to all Shareholders.

The Company has adopted its own code on corporate governance
practices (the “QPL Code”) incorporating the principles and code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules on the
Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 30 April 2025, the Company has applied
the principles and complied with all code provisions set out in
the CG Code except for the deviations explained in the relevant
paragraphs below.

THE BOARD

ROLE OF THE BOARD

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising the Group’s
affairs. Responsibilities of the Board include but are not limited
to the formulation of the Group’s strategy and policies, setting of
corporate and management targets and key operational initiatives,
monitoring and control of operational and financial performance,
and approval of major capital expenditures, major investments,
material acquisitions and disposal of assets, corporate or
financial restructuring and significant operational financial and
management matters.

The Board delegates the day-to-day management and operations
of the Group’s businesses to the executive management under
the supervision of the chief executive of the Company (“Chief
Executive”). The division of responsibilities between the Board
and the management is set out in the QPL Code.

Three Board committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, have
also been established to oversee particular aspects of the Group’s
affairs. Details of these three committees are set out in the
relevant paragraphs below.
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The Company has established a policy enabling the Directors to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company’s expense. The Board will provide separate
independent professional advice to the Directors to assist them to
discharge their duties to the Company.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The structure, size and composition of the Board are reviewed
from time to time to ensure that the Board has a balanced
composition of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the businesses of the Group, and that the balance
between executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors is sufficient to provide adequate checks for safeguarding
the interests of the Shareholders and to enable the Board to
exercise independent judgment.

As at 30 April 2025, the Board comprised five Directors, including
two executive Directors, and three independent non-executive
Directors.

The composition of the Board and the Board committees, and the
individual attendance records of each Director at the Board and
Board committees’ meetings during the year are set out below:

ANNUAL REPORT 2025 4E 4t

A% F) E R B A8 R I L R UL R
P 57 ST L B B AR A SORT o EE AR I 1)
A 5 U8 ) S SO R L DA B 3 R AT
T B AN T Z WK

o Z ALK

AR T AN I A B S 2 R R A A
DL DR 3 S5 8 [R] AR 45 1 26 5 i EL A 28 P %
P msshy > M T EFAB TN TEFTZ
P AL > K8 LA R I A0 A DA DR B I R 2 A
i S R TE S0 A R S R

BEF_HFEMA=tH EHRgh LA EE
AL B4 WY 4% AT 9 S S = % S R AT
o

ERELEFRGLZBEG AN U AFRNLHE
FREFGREFRGZAGERZMADFRL
BRI SN

Meeting Attendance/Eligible to attend

Board
Name of Directors meetings
HREA HRGEHR
Executive Directors WTES
Mr. Lai Sau Him Byl 0/0
(resigned on 15 August 2024) (R ZZZIAENA 1 H BHE)
Phen Hoi Ping Patrick Pl 11
(retired on 15 October 2024) (R =FZE+A+ T HERE)
Tung Siu Ching EN 515
Wu Wangfang RIS 0/0
(appointed on 10 April 2025) (RZFZHENA T HERT)
Independent Non-executive Bk p T EF
Directors
Chu Chun On Franco KIRE 4/5
Chung Hoi Yan 25 4/5
Liu Rongrui B4 By 415

CE LS Vst T
Audit Remuneration  Nomination
Committee  Committee Committee General
meetings meetings meetings Meetings
HH e #4
ZEMUR ZEEE& ZBOO&R JBE K €1
NAREH  NAREH  NARHEM 0/0
NARER NAKRER  NAKNEA 0/1
NAREH NARER NARER 11
NARER  NARERA  NARNEH 0/0
212 212 212 1/1
212 212 212 1/1
212 212 212 1/1
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The Directors have extensive industry knowledge and experience
in corporate management, strategic planning, legal, accounting
and financial matters. Of the six Directors, one independent non-
executive Directors are qualified accountants.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the “Biographical
Details of Directors” section on this annual report. In addition,
a list containing the names of the Directors and their roles and
functions is posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

The Board has complied with the Listing Rules in having at
least three independent non-executive Directors (representing
at least one-third of the Board) with at least one independent
non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Board has assessed the independence of all of the independent
non-executive Directors of the Company and considers all of them
to be independent having regard to (i) their annual confirmation
on independence as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules;
(i1) the absence of involvement in the daily management of the
Company; and (iii) the absence of any financial, business or family
or other material/relevant relationships between the members of
the Board or circumstances which would interfere with the exercise
of their independent judgment.

AR B R B R g R B
HE YA AT AR e N EE
—HBAL AT ERE DG G Gk

R RN AR T ] — e
Sho WA B EEEL LA OB —ER
T SR AR 2 ) L g 52 i 2 A o

ERGOET EWHANAZEE > =28k
Wir#ERE (HREFHGEI =22 A Z
B> HhE b 2By FRATEHEA S8
S A B w UM B B A P S

HEHGOAMMAL A 2B L NITEF B
SEME S K85 RS (i) 4 b T BRI B3 13 R I R E
B A ST M RE T () I M2 AR LS ALY
A B S K (iid) Slf 48 AT RE 2 R AR A A o 8 S )
BT 1 AT o] R g R B 2 TG B - SR B R
s CH AR B B R R O E R 2
WL AT E R R L



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
o SRR

BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEES" MEETINGS
In addition to the Board meetings, the Chairman holds at least
two meetings with the independent non-executive Directors
annually without the presence of the executive Director.

The Board conducts meetings on a regular basis and on an ad hoc
basis. The bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws™) allow Board
meetings to be conducted by means of a conference telephone or
similar communications equipment by means of which all persons
participating in the meeting are capable of hearing each other.
Also, a resolution in writing signed by each of the Directors for
the time being in the relevant territories shall, provided such
Directors would constitute a quorum at any meeting of the Board
convened to consider the resolution, be valid and effectual.

At least 14 days’ notice for regular Board and Board committees’
meetings and reasonable notice for non-regular Board and
Board committees’ meetings are given to all Directors/committee
members so as to ensure that each of them had an opportunity
to attend the meetings. The company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman of the Board
and Board committees in preparing the agenda for meetings and
ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are complied with.
The agenda and the accompanying meeting papers are sent in full
to all Directors/committee members at least 3 days before the date
of meetings.

After the Board and Board committees’ meeting, draft minutes are
circulated to all Directors/committees members for their comment
before execution and approval. All minutes are kept by the
Company Secretary and available for inspection at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice given by the Directors/committee
members.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.

Mr. Li Tung Lok was the Chairman of the Board since the
establishment of the Company in January 1989. Mr. Li had also
served as the Chief Executive since January 1989 (except for
the period from February 2004 to December 2008). Being the
founder of the Group, Mr. Li’s industry expertise and detailed
understanding of the Company’s operations was highly regarded
by the Company. Accordingly, vesting the roles of Chairman of
the Board and Chief Executive in Mr. Li added significant value
to the Company’s business growth while enhancing the efficiency
of the decision-making process in response to the changing
environment. Given all major decisions are reserved to the Board,
the Company considers that there was an adequate balance
of power and authority in place between the Board and the
management of the Company.

Following the passing away of Mr. Li on 2 September 2023, the
Group is of the view that there is a deviation from Code Provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code and is in the progress of identifying suitable
candidate to fill the vacancy for the Chairman and the Chief
Executive.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The non-executive Directors are appointed for a fixed term of
not more than three years, subject to retirement and re-election
pursuant to the Bye-laws.

APPOINTMENT, RETIREMENT AND
RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Company currently does not have a Director holding office as
its managing director.

A retiring Director is eligible for re-election and the re-election
of retiring Directors at general meetings is dealt with by separate
individual resolutions. Where vacancies arise at the Board,
candidates are proposed and put forward to the Board for
consideration and approval. The Shareholders may propose a
candidate for election as a Director in accordance with the Bye-
laws. The procedures for such proposal are posted on the website
of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

The Board was informed of updates of current Listing Rules,
accounting practices and disclosure requirements as and when
necessary.

The Directors understand the need to continue to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills for making contributions to
the Company. During the year ended 30 April 2025, the Directors
attended external seminars and read materials on topics relevant
to their duties as Directors. The Directors have been required to
provide the Company with their training records on an annual
basis, and such records are maintained by the Company Secretary.
In addition, the Directors also disclose to the Company their
interests as directors or other offices in other public companies
in a timely manner and update the Company on any subsequent
changes.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code™)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules for dealings in
the securities of the Company by Directors. All Directors have
confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company, that they
have fully complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code and its code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions throughout the year under review.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring
that the Board procedures are followed and the Board activities are
efficiently and effectively conducted. These objectives are achieved
through adherence to proper Board procedures and the timely
preparation and dissemination of meeting agendas and papers
to the Directors. Minutes of all Board and Board committees’
meetings are prepared and maintained by the Company Secretary
to record in sufficient details the matters considered and decisions
reached by the Board or Board committees. All draft and final
minutes of Board and Board committees’ meetings are sent to the
Directors and committee members respectively for comments and
are available for inspection by any Director upon request.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the
Board is fully apprised of all legislative, regulatory and corporate
governance developments relating to the Group and that it takes
these into consideration when making decisions for the Group.

The Company Secretary is also directly responsible for the
Group’s compliance with all obligations under the Listing Rules
and The Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Repurchases,
including the preparation, publication and despatch of annual
reports and interim reports within the time limits laid down in
the Listing Rules and the timely dissemination of the same to the
Shareholders.

Furthermore, the Company Secretary advises the Directors on
their obligations for disclosure of interests and dealings in the
Group’s securities, connected transactions and inside information
and ensures that the standards and disclosures required by the
Listing Rules are complied and, where required, reported in the
annual report of the Company.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is
subject to Board approval in accordance with the Bye-laws. All
members of the Board have access to the advice and service of
the Company Secretary. Mr. Chung Yuk Lun was the Company
Secretary of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Group’s affairs. The Company Secretary confirmed that he has
complied with all the required qualifications, experience and
training requirements of the Listing Rules.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The annual and interim results of the Group are published in a
timely manner, within three months and two months respectively
of the year end and the half year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting
records are kept so that the financial statements can be prepared
in accordance with the appropriate accounting policies, applicable
accounting standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
under review, the Directors have:

- selected suitable accounting policies and applied them on a
consistent basis;

- made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and
reasonable; and

- ensure that they are prepared on a going concern basis.

Senior management of the Company has provided all members
of the Board with monthly updates giving a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s performance,
business activities and development of the Group in sufficient
detail to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to
discharge their duties.

The statement of the Company’s external auditor, McMillan
Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited (“McMillan Woods”),
regarding their reporting responsibility is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on this annual report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in April 2000. As at
30 April 2025, the Audit Committee has consisted of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Chung Hoi Yan
(being the Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Chu Chun On
Franco and Mr. Liu Rongrui. Ms. Chung Hoi Yan is a qualified
accountant with extensive experience in accounting, audit and
financial matters.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are consistent
with those set out in the CG Code and are posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee include:

. overseeing the relationship between the Group and its
external auditor;

. reviewing the appointment of the external auditor to ensure
continuing auditor’s independence;

. reviewing the Group’s preliminary results, interim results
and annual financial statements;

. monitoring the corporate governance of the Group
including compliance with statutory and the Listing Rules
requirements; and

. assisting the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by
providing an independent review and supervision of the
Group’s financial reporting system, and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The annual report for the year ended 30 April 2025 has been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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During the year under review, work performed by the Audit
Committee include:

- Meeting with the Chief Executive and senior management
of the Company from time to time to review the interim
and final results, the interim report and annual report and
other financial, internal control, corporate governance
and risk management matters of the Group and making
recommendations to the Board;

- Considering and discussing the annual and interim reports
with a view to ensuring that the Group’s consolidated
financial statements are prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards;

- Meeting with the external auditor, McMillan Woods, to
consider the reports of McMillan Woods on the scope,
strategy, progress and outcome of its independent annual
audit of the consolidated financial statements, discuss
its annual audit of the consolidated financial statements
(in each case without the Company’s management being
present); and

- Assisting the Board in meeting its responsibilities for
maintaining an effective system of internal control.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the audit
process. It receives each year the engagement letter from the
external auditor confirming their independence and objectivity
and holds meetings with representatives of the external auditor to
consider the scope of its audit, approve its fees, and the scope and
appropriateness of non-audit services, if any, to be provided by it.
The Audit Committee also makes recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and retention of the external auditor.
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The Group’s policy regarding the engagement of McMillan Woods
for the various services listed below is as follows:

- Audit services — include audit services provided in
connection with the audit of the consolidated financial
statements. All such services are to be provided by the
external auditor.

- Non-audit services — include services that would normally
be provided by an external auditor but not generally
included in audit services.

- Taxation related services — include all tax compliance and
tax planning services.

For the year ended 30 April 2025, a remuneration of HK$0.65
million was payable to McMillan Woods for the provision of audit
services to the Group.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in January 2006. As
at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee has
consisted of three independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Liu Rongrui (being the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee), Mr. Chu Chun On Franco and Ms. Chung Hoi Yan.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
consistent with those set out in the CG Code and are posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include:

- making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration;

- reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives; and

- making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration

of non-executive Directors.
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During the year under review, work performed by the Remuneration
Committee included:

- determining the remuneration package of newly appointed
Director and making recommendation to the Board for
approval;

- reviewing and fixing the remuneration of executive
Directors and senior management; and

- making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of the independent non-executive Directors.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The fees of the Directors and emolument of senior management
are determined with reference to their respective duties and
responsibilities, expertise and experience in the industry,
the performance and profitability of the Group as well as
remuneration benchmarks from other companies and prevailing
market conditions. Whilst the Board retains its power to determine
the remuneration of non-executive Directors, the responsibility
for reviewing and determining the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management of the
Company is delegated to the Remuneration Committee.

BOARD NOMINATION AND APPOINTMENT
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established in January 2006. As
at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee has
consisted of three independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Ms. Chung Hoi Yan (being the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee), Mr. Chu Chun On Franco and Mr. Liu Rongrui.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been
reviewed and revised with reference to the CG Code and are
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include:

- reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

- identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to the

Board on the candidates nominated for directorships;

- assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

- making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular, the Chairman of the Board and
the Chief Executive.

During the year under review, work performed by the Nomination
Committee included:

- identifying candidates suitably qualified to be appointed
as executive director of the Company and assessing his
independence pursuant to the requirement under the
Listing Rules;

- approving for nomination of candidates as executive
Director and making recommendation to the Board for
approval of appointment; and

- reviewing the annual confirmation of independence
submitted by the independent non-executive Directors and
assessing their independence.
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BOARD DIVERSITY

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed its practices
on Board diversity, formalised and adopted a policy by the Board
which recognises the benefits of a Board that possesses a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the requirements of the Company’s business.

The Board’s nominations and appointments will continue to be
made on merit basis based on its business needs from time to
time, with due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.
Selection of Board candidates shall be based on a range of
diversity perspectives with reference to the Company’s business
model and specific needs from time to time, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, skills,
knowledge and professional experience.

The Board diversity policy is posted on the website of the
Company’s website. The Nomination Committee is responsible for
reviewing the policy and monitoring the progress on achieving the
measurable objectives from time to time to ensure its effectiveness
and application.

The following is a chart showing the diversity profile of the Board
as at the date of this annual report:

Number of Directors
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board recognizes that it has the overall responsibility to
establish and maintain a sound and effective risk management
and internal control system to ensure the smooth running of
operations, safeguard the Group’s assets and the Shareholders’
interest as well as to ensure the reliability of financial statements
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations. In devising
risk management and internal controls, the Group has regard to
evaluate and determinate the nature and extent of the risk, the
likelihood of it crystallizing, and the cost of controls. A system of
risk management and internal control is designed to manage, but
not eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and
can only provide reasonable but not absolute, assurance against
the risk of material misstatement, fraud or loss.

During the year, the Board delegated the management to evaluate
the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control system. The management would
from time to time report the identified deficiencies to the Audit
Committee of the Company for recommendations. An annual
review of the risk management and internal control system would
be performed by the Board to ensure all significant risks are under
proper control.

The Group has engaged an independent internal control review
advisor (the “Internal Control Advisor”) to carry out the internal
audit function of the Group. Review of the Group’s internal
controls covered major financial, operational and compliance
controls, as well as risk management functions of different
systems has been performed on a systematic rotational basis on
the risk assessments of the operations and controls. During the
risk assessment process, the Internal Control Advisor interviewed
the relevant personnel and identified the business objectives and
significant risks of the Group. A risk management review and
internal audit report prepared by the Internal Control Advisor
which sets out the risks, issues and recommended action plan was
presented to the Board for review and endorsement. The Board
considered that significant risks of the Group were managed
within the acceptable level and the management will continue to
monitor the residual risks and report to the Board on ongoing
basis.

For the year ended 30 April 2025, the Board have reviewed the
risk management and internal control system and procedures and
they consider them effective and adequate.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group encourages environmental protection and promotes
environmental awareness for the employees. The Group
implements green office practices which encourage the employees
to make use of the e-statement or scanning copies, double-sided
printing and copying, setting up of recycle boxes for reducing
and disposing of waste. The Group is committed to reduce the
green-house emissions by turning off idle office lightings, air-
conditioning and other equipment after the standard working
hours. The Group regularly reviews its environmental practice to
make further improvement.

Further details will be disclosed in the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report 2025 to be published within August
2025.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 30 April 2025, there has been no significant
change in the Company’s constitutional documents.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Group actively promotes investor relations and
communications with the investment community when the interim
and year end financial results are announced and during the
course of the year. A policy on shareholders’ communication,
which is available on the Company’s website, was adopted and is
subject to regular review by the Board to ensure its effectiveness
and compliance with the prevailing regulatory and other
requirements.

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information
about the Group to the Shareholders through the publication of
notices, announcements, circulars, interim and annual reports. A
copy of the Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of the
Company is posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

ANNUAL REPORT 2025 4E 4t

BBIWR

7 £ o) S5 BR DR 3 507 K6 R B A BR IR B -
A SR AT BR AR N =R R L) IR B %
JH T i A B 8 SO BT AT DA E S
16 B 1 0 A8 LA D B e ) o A SR ETE — i
2 TR ] 4% ) P[] 0 O > & PR~ 22 ) e G
At A Ik 2 T SRR P o AR AR I A
ol FEER IR R AR — 4 BOEE

LR IR AR A R S F AN
HTVEEm & AR RE - g AR -

TR
RBE - FFAENA =+ IR A4
2 TR SO T S -

BB e 2 Bl AR

B R AR BE TR SRR A M AR SR A AR T A
ALEERBEB B EERR LR ERA L2
A2 1 B o A2y F PR A RO RHERE ()R A
0% A8k B BE ) o 37 dhy HE S g s T B L e AR X
BUR A AT & BT I B R S H A B E -

A T B A K R AR T
e > B ) SRR B2 3 A B A 4R T 2 i A T
B A o AR 20 ] A Ak R R KA B 2w A ) ) SRR
AR ) B Y 58 A i o



30

QPL INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
(e SRR

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings of the
Company. Pursuant to Section 74 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981, the directors of a company, notwithstanding anything in
its bye-laws shall, on the requisition of members of the company
holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of such of the paid-up capital of the company as at the
date of the deposit carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the company, forthwith proceed duly to convene a special
general meeting of the company. The requisition must state the
purposes of the meeting, and must be signed by the requisitionists
and deposited at the registered office of the company, and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or
more requisitionists.

All substantive resolutions at general meetings are decided on a
poll which is conducted by the Company Secretary and scrutinised
by the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong. The
results of the poll are posted on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. Regularly updated financial, business
and other information about the Group is made available on the
Company’s website for the Shareholders and stakeholders.

The Directors are requested and encouraged to attend
shareholders’ meetings albeit unforeseen circumstances which
might prevent the Directors from attending such meetings.

The Group values feedback from the Shareholders on its efforts to
promote transparency and foster investor relationships. Enquiries,
comments and suggestions to the Board or the Company are
welcome and can be addressed to the Company Secretary by mail
to Unit H, 24/F., Golden Bear Industrial Center, 66-82 Chai Wan
Kok Street, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong or by email
at ir@qplhk.com.
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are the manufacture and sale
of integrated circuit leadframes, heatsinks, stiffeners and related
products, investment holding and money lending.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2025 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 50.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend in
respect of the year ended 30 April 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the business of the Company and a discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year, the
material factors underlying its results and financial position and
material attributable factors of the development and likely future
developments of the Group’s business, are provided throughout
this annual report, particularly in the following separate sections:

(a)  Review of the Group’s business — “Director’s Statement”;

(b) The Group’s risk management framework, the principal
risks and the controls in place — “Director’s Statement”,
“Corporate Governance Report” and “Directors’ Report”;

(c) Future development in the Group’s business — “Director’s
Statement”;

(d) Analysis using financial key performance indicators —
“Financial Highlights” and “Director’s Statement”;

(e) Discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance — “Corporate Governance Report”;

) Discussion on the Group’s compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations — “Corporate Governance Report”
and “Independent Auditors’ Report”; and

(2) An account of the Group’s key relationships with its
employees, customers and suppliers and others — “Corporate
Governance Report” and “Directors’ Report”.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company did not have reserves available for distribution to
the Shareholders as at 30 April 2025.

Under the Companies Act of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of the contributed surplus if:

) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(i1) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital
and share premium accounts.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The board of directors of the Company established a dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”) in January 2019. The Company endeavours
to maintain adequate working capital to develop and operate
the business of the Group and to provide stable and sustainable
returns to the shareholders of the Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, the Board shall take
into account, among other things, the actual and expected
financial performance of the Group, the capital and debt level of
the Group, the general market conditions, any working capital
requirements, capital expenditure requirements and future
development plans of the Group, the liquidity position of the
Group, contractual restrictions on payment of dividends, the
statutory and regulatory restrictions which the Group is subject
to from time to time and any other relevant factors that the Board

may consider relevant.
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The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record
in the past does not necessarily imply that the similar level of
dividends may be declared or paid by the Company in the future.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company is
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Act of Bermuda
and the Bye-laws and any other applicable laws and regulations.
The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserve
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend,
modify and/or cancel the Dividend Policy at any time.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or
in no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or
from time to time.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises that our employees are one of the greatest
assets contributing to the Group’s future success. The Group
continues to provide training for its staff to enhance technical
and product knowledge as well as knowledge of industry quality
standards. The Group maintains good working relationships with
its employees and has not experienced any material disruption of
its normal business operations due to strikes or labour disputes.
The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with our business partners, which including the
Group’s customers and suppliers. The Group believes that a
healthy relationship can be build up by providing better products
and enhanced services to the customers, maintaining an effective
communication channel to the employees and collaborating with
key suppliers.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and
business prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to our Group’s
businesses. The followings are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by our Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not
known to the Group or which may not be material now but could
turn out to be material in the future.

RELIANCE ON MAJOR CUSTOMERS

In the year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 57% (2024: 54%) of the total sales
for the year and sales to the largest customer accounted for
approximately 21% (2024: 18%) of total sales. If any of these
customers ceases to do business with the Group, or substantially
reduces the volume of its business with the Group and if the
Group is unable to secure new customers with similar sales volume
and profit margin, the Group’s business, results of operations and
financial position may be materially and adversely affected.

RELIANCE ON LIMITED NUMBER OF SUPPLIERS
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 72% (2024: 65%) of the total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 25% (2024: 26%) of total purchases.
If any of these suppliers do not continue to supply materials to
the Group at favourable or similar prices or at all, the Group
may not be able to find another suitable replacement supplier in a
timely manner or on terms acceptable to the Group or at all, and
the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition
could be adversely affected.

EQUITY PRICE RISK

Equity price risk mainly arises from fluctuation in quoted market
price of the Group’s investment in financial assets. The Group
is exposed to equity price risk through its financial assets at
FVTPL. The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL have significant
concentration of price risk in the Hong Kong stock market.
The Group counter the equity price risk by ensuring a board
diversification of the Group’s investment portfolio and ensuring
the investment portfolio are frequently reviewed and monitored.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of the Group’s revenue and purchases for the
year ended 30 April 2025 attributable to its major customers and
suppliers were as follows:

Revenue attributable to: JIT A i 4
Largest customer mREF
Five largest customers HREF

Purchases attributable to: ST AL B B
Largest supplier Foe KA JE R
Five largest suppliers R L 1 P

At no time during the year did a Director, an associate of a
Director or a Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) have an interest in any of the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Tung Siu Ching

Ms. Wu Wangfang (appointed on 10 April 2025)

Mr. Lai Sau Him (resigned on 15 August 2024)

Mr. Phen Hoi Ping Patrick (retired on 15 October 2024)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chu Chun On Franco

Ms. Chung Hoi Yan

Mr. Liu Rongrui

Note: Ms. Wu Wangfang, being appointed on 10 April 2025, obtained

the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 9
April 2025, and Ms. Wu Wangfang confirmed that she understood
her obligations as a Director.

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, Ms. Tung Siu Ching, Ms. Wu Wangfang
and Ms. Chung Hoi Yan will retire by rotation and, being eligible,
will offer themselves to re-election at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 30 April 2025, the interests and short positions of the
Directors, chief executive and their associates in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

LONG POSITION IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

o0 g8 B AT BN BB B4 B A B B
Br 2 W 2

A CECIAEMA =+ B REA N R % E
75 BB ) (T3R8 77 KO & e B 1) 2535200 47
B2 6RO P RO Bk > SO 9 R YE ST BT O
AANF RB LT #EE EEAABN B REE
Z T B AR % ) R HR gk (O 38 R RS R
Lo B8 A0 B 28 XV AR ) 2 BB~ AR Bl B A7 2 AR
e HE A SR AR

T 7 2 i) JBe Ay B A B B By 2 45 A

Percentage of
the issued share

Personal Family Corporate capital of
Name of Director interests interests interests Total the Company
A 2 W]
CHITRAZ
HEW A &l HE 73 B HE 1R ACE & #a st JEpid:a
Ms. Tung Siu Ching
— Ordinary shares in issue
#/N Rt
— OB AT 1,800,000 - - 1,800,000
— Unlisted share options
— I LT B R 1,666,666 - - 1,666,666
3,466,666 - - 3,466,666 1.20%
Ms. Chung Hoi Yan
— Ordinary shares in issue
$lp B At
— O AT A 1,800,000 - - 1,800,000 0.62%
Mr. Chu Chun On Franco
— Ordinary shares in issue
RIS
— B AT A 1,800,000 - - 1,800,000 0.62%
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Save as disclosed above, as at 30 April 2025, none of the Directors
nor chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations.

SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in
note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

The movements in the Company’s share options granted to the
Directors and employees during the year were as follows:
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Br b SCRT i ER F AN R F HAEA =+ H
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LUNNE

Movement during the year
ERES
Outstanding
Outstanding at at 30 April Vesting
Date of grant 1 May 2024 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2025 Exercise price  Exercise period period
REBZNE REZZHE
AR WA=+H
iR WA o BATHE B (3 WA frfff s S
HKS
o

Category 1: Directors

F-NE¥

Mr. Phen Hoi Ping 22 April 2016 416,666 - - - (416,666) - 744 22 April 2016 to 21 April 2026 No
Patrick (retired on
15 October 2024)

BT SE-RE CE-AERACTORE ®
(R=F e MAZ+ZA CECAENA SR
TATRBERE)

Ms Tung Siu Ching 14 September 2018 1,666,666 - - - - 1,666,666 0.96 14 September 2018 to No

13 September 2028
#FLL “E-NE “E-ANEAATNAE &
A+ E ZEDNEARTER
Total Directors 2,083,332 - - - (416,606) 1,666,666
MG
Category 2: Employees
BN ER
22 April 2016 100,834 - - - (100,834) - 744 22 April 2016 to No
21 April 2026
ZE-RE CE-AERACTORE L3
WHZ+=H CERTAENAZY-H
Total Employees 100,834 - - - (100,834) -
{5 45t
Total all categories 2,184,166 - - - (517,500) 1,666,666

B AT RO it
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme as described in the sections
headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in Shares and
Underlying Shares” and “Share Options”, at no time during the
year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or chief executive of the
Company, their spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or underlying
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate, and none of them had any right to subscribe for the
securities of the Company or its associated corporations, or had
exercised any such right during the year.

MATERIAL INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, no other transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract of significance concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during
the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

No Director was a party to a service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the
employing company within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 30 April 2025, the Board were not aware of any persons
who were substantial shareholders of the Company and had or
was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of listed securities of the
Company.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are determined with reference to their respective duties
and responsibilities, expertise and experience in the industry,
the performance and profitability of the Group as well as
remuneration benchmarks from other companies and prevailing
market conditions. Whilst the Board retains its power to determine
the remuneration of non-executive Directors, the responsibility
for reviewing and determining the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management of the
Company is delegated to the remuneration committee of the
Company.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive
to the Directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme is
set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board has assessed the independence of all the independent
non-executive Directors of the Company and considers all of them
to be independent having regard to (i) their annual confirmation
on independence as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules;
(i1) the absence of involvement in the daily management of the
Company; and (iii) the absence of any financial, business or family
or other material/relevant relationships between the members of
the Board or circumstances which would interfere with the exercise
of their independent judgment.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
or under the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Board as at the date of
this annual report, the percentage of the Company’s shares which
are in the hands of the public exceeds 25% of the Company’s total
number of issued shares throughout the year ended 30 April 2025.

AUDITOR

Following the resignation of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
(“HLB”) as the auditor of the Company on 13 May 2022,
McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited was appointed as
the auditor of the Company by the Board on the same day. A
resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to re-appoint McMillan Woods (Hong
Kong) CPA Limited as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tung Siu Ching
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 July 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
QPL INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
QPL International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 50 to 136, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 30 April 2025, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 30 April 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. The key audit matters we identified are:

1. Allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on trade
receivables; and

2. Allowance for ECL on loan receivables.
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Key audit matter

B B¢ 7 st 28 0

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables

MW 5 59 J sk 2 B A 1 6 Ml 18 18 1

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

T A v 2 G40 ] o PR R SR A 2 OH

Refer to Notes 4, 5, 6 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

TS A MBS EREE4 56519 -

As at 30 April 2025, the Group’s gross trade receivables
amounted to approximately HK$57,662,000 and
allowance for ECL of approximately HK$3,087,000.
WERCHAFEMAZ1TH, BHEBEMERESE
K F57,662,0009 I - AH B (S B e 1R A
%) 543,087,000% It °

Our procedures in relation to allowance for ECL on trade
receivables as at 30 April 2025 including but not limited to:
A —F ZHAEMA =+ HBIE 5 Rk G Sk
S8 T BT B0 R P AL AR E AR PR

. Obtaining an understanding on the key controls over the
allowance for ECL on trade receivables, including but
not limited to the management’s assessment on the credit
worthiness of the counterparties;

o TR RE SRR B RS TE I MF BT sl 1R 4840 Y IR R A O G
A5 AH N B A B I B 3 T 5 {5 B B REAG

. Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing profile of the
trade receivables as at 30 April 2025 to the underlying
financial records and post year-end settlements to bank
receipts;

o fhERARA R T T RARDYH =+ H A B BB RO B A Y RE
Wi B2 R I SR 15 DL B A A H AR Y SRAT A5 R
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Key audit matter

BA 3¢ 7 st 2 0

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables (Continued)

HE W 5 53 i sk < B A 1 6 ply 1R 18 f (AT)

In general, the trade receivables credit terms
granted by the Group to the customers ranged
from 30 to 90 days. Management performed
periodic assessment on the recoverability of the
trade receivables and the sufficiency of allowance
for ECL based on information including credit
profile of different customers, ageing of the trade
receivables, historical settlement records, subsequent
settlement status, expected timing and amount of
realisation of outstanding balances, and on-going
trading relationships with the relevant customers.
Management also considered forward-looking
information that may impact the customers’ ability to
repay the outstanding balances in order to estimate
the allowance for ECL of trade receivables.
—RimE . EEERTEFNBRESRRES
A F30290 H o 4 B R IR AR % 5 8945 SR DL
JRE Wi B B A B MR R R AN RO B R LA SR
DL~ R AR R 45 R 2 T30 5 B0 IR A R < BRUAR B &
J5 0 5 A 52 T BRAR 55 EDR) 3B I AR ) MR A B T i ]
P e T WA B e 1EHE A Y TR R MR HE AT E IR AN -
T 775 8 T RE 5 B A 5 AR R OR (R 45 BR AR ) Y I
A Rk LAl B s B R A T A B g 1R A
H o

We focused on this area due to the assessment of
the allowance of trade receivables under the ECL
model involved the use of significant management’s
judgements and estimates and the significance of the
balance to the consolidated financial statements.

FAM B 1 G 7y T 0 e T A A e 4R SR Y R U
B2 Ty W k4 A ST 2R P R R O A R A B I A R
DL R AHBRAAS R 45 B W IR R A R
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Fe AP o 2 4 ol E B R S 9 5 OH

Inquiring of management for the status of each of the
material trade receivables past due as at year end and
corroborating explanations from management with
supporting evidence, such as understanding on-going
business relationship with the customers based on trade
records, checking historical and subsequent settlement
records of and other correspondence with the customers;
Te] 7 B A ) 7 AF &5 H ) A 45 TH R B I B IR
BRI - ST AR A B R R () A AR R B G Bk TR B R
BRFAERS AR B R P R AE S AR AR RO B DA K
B 5 H A T S R ) AR B A kA R

Assessing the appropriateness of the methodology used
in calculating the allowance for ECL, examining the key
data inputs on a sample basis to assess their accuracy and
completeness, and challenging the assumptions, including
both historical and forward-looking information, used to
determine the allowance for ECL; and

TG R A TE A e R A T O R R R A
5 o] R SRR i A A Al R Ve % o R I BT R
T B s 18 158 4 T o P R % - B9 o A B I B R R
Y

Assessing the adequacy and accuracy of the disclosure
made in the consolidated financial statements.

T A A B 3R T A 4R R R 1 TR B i
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Key audit matter
B &t 7% w0

Allowance for ECL on loan receivables

MW £ 3% 2 B R 1 B Ml 8 15

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

F A B4 7 540 fo B B O A 2 OH

Refer to Notes 4, 5, 6 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

TES MG A ML FE4 -5 - 65421 -

As at 30 April 2025, the Group’s gross loan receivables
amounted to approximately HK$87,251,000 and
allowance for ECL of approximately HK$41,837,000.
PR AN = B R R
THA) 7587,251,0009 7T - AH B T A 65 s 8 480 40
41,837,000 JC ©

The balance of allowance for ECL of loan receivables
represents the management’s best estimates at the
end of the reporting period under the ECL model.

R WSO K T A R s 1R B A 2 5 B i A R AR R
W45 S e 1R X O R A ) 2 B A T

Management assesses whether the credit risk of loan
receivables have increased significantly since their
initial recognition, and apply a three-stage ECL
model to calculate their ECL. The measurement
allowance for ECL involves significant management
judgments and assumptions, primarily including the
following:

B LT Al R B RO A5 B LB ) A e R DL A 2
0 R 4 T - ST PR ) = P B E 0 Bl R R O H
T W5 B 1 o TEIIE B R A 10 P SR
L B SRR AR AT T

Our procedures in relation allowance for ECL on loan
receivables as at 30 April 2025 including but not limited to:
AL —F AR A = H R R R T AE B R A
I AT B R B A (R BR R

. Obtaining an understanding the key control procedures
performed by management, including its procedures on
periodic review on overdue receivables and the assessment
of allowance for ECL on the loan receivables;

o TR TEE JE AT RO BR SR R R Y B0 4 HC 3 A D WK
VELA A 399 R e % 3 B s 8 R ) T A R s 1R B A Y
A A

. Obtaining an understanding and evaluating the
methodology used for calculating the allowance for ECL,
assessed the reasonableness of the methodology used and
key assumptions and underlying data;

o 7RSO R TE G B R BT O ik RE AL B
77 15 DA B TR SR R A B R A B

. For the historical information, discussed with management
to obtain understanding of the management’s identification
of significant increase in credit risk, default and credit-
impaired loans, corroborated management’s explanation
with supporting evidence;

o BB G B IR AR AR R 0 el A R
JER B S 48~ o A A B R B AR AR A B R A
L ) R
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Key audit matter

BA 3¢ 7 st 2 0

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

T A v 2 G40 ] o PR R O A S OH

Allowance for ECL on loan receivables (Continued)

MW £ 5k 2 BH 1 B Ml 18 15 A (A7)

Selection of appropriate model and determination
of relevant key measurement parameters, including
probability of default, loss given default and
exposure at default;

A R I AL R NI AR TR Y PR B T 2 0
£ 45 AW R A 1R R BOE # Al

Criteria for determining whether or not there
was a significant increase in credit risk or a
default; and

il R A5 BE By 2 73 B 1 0 B 7 B AT Y
BRYE S J

Economic indicator for forward-looking
measurement, and the application of economic
scenarios and weightings.

BT I PE A& A RE A > DA R RIS Y R
14 JE A o

For forward-looking measurement, we assessed the
reasonableness of economic indicator selection, economic
scenarios and weightings application, assessed the
reasonableness of the estimation by comparing with
industry data;

SIS MR & FAM O R A AR IR I - R TE K
HE R 0 B 05 BT SE R AT LR AL A
) & B 5

Checking major data inputs used in the ECL model on
sample basis to the Group’s record; and

MRPE 5 AR T Bk > bR b A TN AR Bl 4R R Y o (o
1 E AR A &

Assessing the adequacy and accuracy of the disclosure
made in the consolidated financial statements.

A A A B R T A 4B R A TR O

We focus on this area due to the significant estimates
and judgement involved in determining the ECL
allowance on loan receivables and the significance of
the balance to the consolidated financial statements.
FAM B 1 G 75 T Y e A AR S R R R T A B
R AR 1 B A R B A DA B AR B A5 BR AR e
BMRAERBE-
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors of the Company in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Ao A B

B )R U R A MU B
IS R R B A R M AR A B R
e e T A 110 12 BT i R A o

FRAM 3 5 5 BB R 09 A0 AN R R E
FAM IR A B 5% 55 H A AR B R AT A A B

&

A A AR A IS R T E > FRAM B9 B 2 B
HAAE B e MO TR b > 25 0 Al 5 B2 1 B4R
o B R AN TE 7 R AR AR P TR A L
A A TR HIK A S B D A7 7E B K B R R A 9 15
Ul o B FAM AT A TAE > an SR AN ER £ Ho A
5 B TEE RS BB - A E S R o
UL > FAM S AT AT e A

o B BT A B R A
R AT

By F g A TR A U a2 A R
i s e S v S A A AR D)
A WL AR LT R R A AR S R
Sl 365 FL R T I o 5 TV 5 S AR 1A BRE A S A A
i B TR B R T A B OK B R B P 9 TR
H E 1i B B o

TR G BTSSRI 2 T
i YRR O B ) > 3 AR T B
5 L A0 B 0O B G A
BERERE R RAFESA N R
M L U B B R B o

FEREZEEHY BRAFERESEE HE
P B 5 A R ) BAE: ©
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR

THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90
of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

ANNUAL REPORT 2025 4E 4t

?ﬁ%ﬁﬂtﬁ%%ﬁﬁi%ﬁi’%fﬂﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ
T

WAH B B A S MR BT AT
T FR P SR B R T B Y K R R A A
A BLORE 5 0 H AL A B A A M A
FAM $2 7T e 2 00 W]k BB 90 M Y AR E M ) 4
e SRR A FAM B 5 R BRI RLAE > FRAM A e i A
AT AR Al Ak o FAM AN E A i 2 R A
AT Ay He At A 7R AT A 9855 s AT T SRAT: -

A AR R e KT B PR A HONRE AR AR IR
e RHE A EAT A AT 7R — R B RR B
A A5 157 58 E 3% B o 85 B AT DA el U T B
1 > SR TR A A R AR A T fiE
BRI B I AR O B S ik 3R AR
14 AL e - BIAT R 1 B R BRI P R E K o

FEMRPE CGE B FFRHEND TSR B > 3
T 7SR R T SRR BERE T - AN
I

o WA T A b R SR B T A SR S
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FE A E B RHREE AE AR E R
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B BB B R AR 2 b
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o FHME BAFEHETRNG BN E
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. Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group

to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats of safeguards applied.

< B BAFESRNFAKE G
P PR A5 o AR IR TR B 7 R R

il 5 R 75 A7 7E B TE B LA B B E R
il AE V> G T AT AE BRSO AE YRR A
KE A ) A E R BE I o AR T AT B R A AE
TR AS ife A o A A A A R i
A 5 o 1) 2 3 T AR TV R Y A B
7 o B A B A BEER AN L JI A IR B R
B R o A 9 A R A R i H
1k FT A B AR R o SR - R AE T IH B
HU AR BN R AL -

o RPEAR A B R 09 BB S O 50 A5 R
AR > BLAE B 0 DL KA BB R 2
5 H 1 S A B 52 B A O o

o RFEIERBATEEER I BEMAE
IS 2 5 B0 1Y B B O T A
Y IR RS - 1R 2 B AR S B R TE R
SRR FE B o A Bt 42 I Rl T AT
t CAR R T )~ B K B o AN 2 A T
HRRIERIEAL -

B A 5 IR S JRAM B R B e Tl
(1) 2 w60 [~ R ] 42 BF - EOR R B BLAE W 4R
FAM AE 7 it ) H R S 42 o 9 A e R R R

AR % Z B g RBY SR C AT
B A R 8 ST A AR BRSSO 1 R 5 7 B At A1
28 A AT RE o B AR A R BTN L
i A i AR R Al S I DL R AR O T -
T % 350 8 57 4 18 7 T DR B A B8l 9 4 i
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Sham Tsz Leung Desmond

Practicing Certificate Number: P08234
24/F, Siu On Centre

188 Lockhart Road

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 28 July 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR;LQSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
;W‘EIT ﬂﬁj\ﬁﬁQQﬁﬁig

For the year ended 30 Ap111 2025 #WEZETRAFMA A H IRERE
2025 2024
- Y —E Y4
NOTES HK$’000 HK$000
M 7 F# THIT
Revenue I % 8 301,451 262,699
Raw materials and consumables used 1o P DA ) B3 R (120,729) (107,683)
Changes in inventories of finished R B R 2
goods and work in progress fr & 5 H) (1,253) 1,751
Other income HAb e A 9 17,423 21,879
Exchange losses, net [iEE 58, 5 15 1% 4R (554) (442)
Net fair value losses on financial assets at &/ R {HFF A HH &
fair value through profit or loss (M AREFEA BRG]
(“FVTPL”) Z A WE RN UE
Ji 15 13 #H (4,165) (21,997)
Realised gain/(loss) on disposal of H E?"’"J‘E{Eﬁ]\ﬁﬁéz
financial assets at FVTPL, net GREEZ O Y
ss,” (Et8) @%‘E 814 (264)
Reversal of expected credit losses JEW R 5 MRk 2 TG &
(“ECL”) on trade receivables 8 (TS B R )
% [ul 1,594 161
Allowance for ECL on loan receivables  MEW 8 3 2 T8 15 & k518
A (4,957) (11,541)
Allowance for ECL on bond receivables  JE i fif %5 2 T8 0115 £ b5 8 5 #5 (1,923) (9,673)
Allowance for ECL on other receivables b g 3 JH & #4 4 2 1H ]
and deposits 15 £ e 18 138 4 41) (68)
Other gains HoAtb i 4 9 813 115
Staff costs BT A (99,286) (98,864)
Depreciation of property, S ERR ) E Y E A
plant and equipment (8,873) (7,910)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i AREE A 2 I8 (1,012) (5,030)
Other operating expenses o 58 45 BA 52 (78,478) (82,980)
Finance costs Rl AR 10 (1,304) (1,453)
Loss before tax K Bt Al s 10 (480) (61,300)
Income tax expense JIT 15 Bl BH 52 11 (583) (94)
Loss for the year attributable to owners A2 v BEA N RE A A AR i 4R
of the Company 12 (1,063) (61,394)
Other comprehensive expense for the year: <45 3 H i 42 i B % :
Item that may be subsequently reclassified 1]~ H % 3 70 0 %
to profit or loss 18 2 HH
Exchange differences arising MBI ETEA 2
on translation of foreign operations T 58, 2 %0 (305) (1,578)
Total comprehensive expense for the year A2 w) ¥t A A WA A< 41 BE 42 1
attributable to owners of the Company P % 4 7 (1,368) (62,972)
Loss per share 5 1B e 18 13
Basic HAR HK(0.37) cents # 1l HK(21.26) cents #
Diluted Wi HK(0.37) cents ¥l HK(21.26) cents il
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A o B B IR DL AR

At 30 April 2025 A ZFTAEMA =4 H

2025 2024
- a1 R4
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
bt # F# Tt
Non-current assets I B B A
Property, plant and equipment W WA Xt 16 116,994 122,184
Right-of-use assets i 1 17 2,328 2,849
119,322 125,033
Current assets By
Inventories & 18 90,904 83,178
Trade and other receivables By Fe HoAth B e 2K TE 19 58,771 69,360
Deposits and prepayments e I A IR 19 5,489 7,310
Financial assets at FVTPL N RAEFI AR5 2
B T 20 60,647 62,578
Loan receivables JRE Wi £ K 21 45,414 44,050
Bond receivables JE M A5 55 22 6,475 11,238
Cash and cash equivalents Bl T 55 W Bl 4 06 B 23 78,044 58,538
345,744 336,252
Current liabilities i B £ 1
Trade payables & 5y WE A #RE 24 13,545 18,110
Other payables and accrued expenses oAt AT 3 I,E&F’E wt
# M 24 67,198 63,276
Contract liabilities HHAMR 25 1,802 2,430
Tax payable R 480 ol T 668 667
Other borrowings HoAth i & 26 11,873 14,022
Bank borrowings SRAT 28 44,450 35,372
Lease liabilities il S= R 27 914 877
140,450 134,754
Net current assets i B A A 205,294 201,498
Total assets less current liabilities A RS R B A6 324,616 326,531
Non-current liability Ik B) AR
Lease liabilities & A il 27 1,521 2,068
Net assets &R 323,095 324,463
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A B B R DL AR

At 30 April 2025 A EFZRAEMH =+ H

2025 2024
NOTE HK$’000 HK$ 000
Mt 7 Tt Tt
Capital and reserves & A I

Share capital A 29 2,887 2,887
Share premium and reserves J& A5y Y A I fidh e 320,208 321,576

Total equity attributable to owners of /NEE 2PN I E
the Company k] 323,095 324,463

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
28 July 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Tung Siu Ching
H/N
DIRECTOR
£

RMEFGR _F _HFELA Z+H/AH MR
ETEE MW T ER AR ER G

Wu Wangfang
REFF
DIRECTOR
#HH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
WT =] %ﬁ"&@}i@

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

Capital Share
Share Share Contributed redemption options Translation Accumulated
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
e ] Y T
BeA @ EAER ok 1 Wi WM RsHER At
HK$000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS000 HK$000  HKS000
T Tkt Tkt Tkt Tkt Tkt Tkt Tk
(Note (a))  (Note (b))  (Note(c)) (Note (d))
(Hit@) (H#®n)  (Bide) (HiEd)
At 1 May 2023 RZFZ=FHA—H 2,887 720,032 274,347 12,310 9,801 4,175 (636,117) 387,435
Loss for the year A - - - - - - (61,394)  (61,394)
Other comprehensive expense AR FE A T B S
for the year:
Item that may be subsequently THAGENAEE AR
reclassified to profit or loss EH
Exchange differences arising on BRI ET 2 A H
translation of foreign operations - - - - - (1,578) - (1,578)
Total comprehensive expense AR AT B A
for the year - - - - - (1,578) (61,394) (62,972)
Forfeiture of share options Bl IR (A 7E31)
(Note 31) - - - - (9,546) - 9,546 -
At 30 April 2024 and | May 2024 W ZZFZW4EN =+ H K&
CECNERA—H 2,887 720,032 274,347 12,310 255 2,597 (687,965) 324,463
Loss for the year AR - - - - - = (1,063) (1,063)
Other comprehensive expense AR AL AT B 5
for the year:
Item that may be subsequently HRHEEHN AR E R Z
reclassified to profit or loss EH
Exchange differences arising on WS AN ET R Z IS
translation of foreign operations - - - - - (305) - (305)
Total comprehensive expense A AT B A
for the year - - - - - (305) (1,063) (1,368)
Lapse of share option (Note 31)  MERCHESAL (M it31) = = = = (185) = 185 =
At 30 April 2025 REZZZRFENA=+H 2,887 720,032 274,347 12,310 70 2,292 (688,843) 323,095
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Notes:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = F " FAFMH =+ H IEF

Contributed surplus represents the excess of the net assets of
subsidiaries acquired over the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued as consideration.

Capital redemption reserve represents the excess of the
consideration paid for repurchase of the Company’s ordinary
shares over the par value of respective repurchased shares.

The share options reserve represents the fair value of the actual
or estimated number of unexercised share options granted to
directors and employees of the Group recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-based
payments in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Wit

()

(b)

(©)

(d)

T AL O R T R A B R (A A
2% RIAE 25 ARAB T 56 AT 1) B 003 THT (EL A 748 4

A T [ ol 4 A O [ AR 2 ) R A AR
L AR B 0 T A £33 I 9 0 o

U e HE G AR 5 4 T AN SR B R T AR B 2 R
oAl B 2 RAT O B RE 2 8 Fe (i AR R AR
o TS i B SR A AR 5 DA 4 Ty Rl
AT SR 2 TR T DR RE -

TEE S, M 20 45 0 57 1 S S 755 B 5 3 O E AR
I BT A REE 505 B < % fif 48 )9 ML A 5 I S R
Wi 54 i 2t O AT B o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

A4 nRE

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% —F " T4 =+ H I

2025 2024
S N Y TR
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T 0 AREP
CASH FLOWS FROM REXRBGHREEER
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax I B 1 s 1 (480) (61,300)
Adjustments for: R
Interest income FE WA (4,543) (8,459)
Finance costs il & A A 1,304 1,453
Loss on written-off of loan receivables e Wi £ R 8 2 e 4R 4,246 12,358
Depreciation of property, plant and W2k~ W Kk 2 e
equipment 8,873 7,910
Depreciation of right-of-use assets AR EE 2T e 1,012 5,030
Realised (gain)/loss on financial assets }’“/\ﬁﬁﬁff\i‘” i 2 B
at FVTPL, net OB (Was) s H % H (814) 264
Net fair value losses on financial assets ?’A'/\flifﬁ FIABEZ GME
at FVTPL FE 2% FU(E s 1R 13 A 4,165 21,997
Net gain on disposal of property, Y B AR BGR 2 i as
plant and equipment A (743) (115)
Reversal of allowance for inventories A7 B A 4 (661)
Reversal of ECL on trade receivables EWE 5 MR FE G &
Ji 48 3% ] (1,594) (161)
Allowance for ECL on loan receivables  MEUig & 5K 2 86 Wi f5 &
Jies 1H 45 4,957 11,541
Allowance for ECL on bond receivables MU i %5 2 78 11 15 8 s 18 158 45 1,923 9,673
Gain on early termination of lease RPLIEHE 2 s (70) -
Allowance for ECL on other receivables i fth fE i 35 I8 K # 4 2
and deposits T A AE A0 s 1R B A 41 68
Operating profit before working KutE il g e 2B 2
capital changes fete il 17,616 259
(Increase)/decrease in inventories & (Bm) Wb (7,716) 1,060
Decrease/(increase) in trade and B G B F At I i 3 IR
other receivables Wb () 12,181 (2,907)
(Increase)/decrease in loan receivables FEW &K (80 b (7,135) 7,672
Decrease/(increase) in deposits and e g T LA AR
prepayments Wb (HE ) 1,742 (3,216)
Increase in financial assets at FVTPL Yo SR AR 55 2 4 f
2 (1,420) (4,176)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables B 5y REAT FCE (b)) 8 (3,685) 2,894
Increase in other payables and L Ath AT B IE K WE%‘ A
accrued expenses 3,790 660
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities A& & (3 4) (628) 857
Cash generated from operations K iR 4 14,745 3,103
Income tax paid SENRIREE (582) (160)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM REREBEMAEHSEH

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

14,163 2,943
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AR EfRR

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE

2025 2024
RO TR AR
Note HK$’°000 HK$’000
s T# o T
CASH FLOWS FROM BRERHEH BB SR

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received B Ui A B 751 461
Proceeds from disposal of property, S W 2~ A B AR BT A9 R

plant and equipment 743 168
Purchase of property, plant and L= RY/E B S & T

equipment 3,991) (4,258)
Bond interests received B i & 55 A1 3,200 -
NET CASH FROM/(USED IN) BEEHEG () BREFH

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 703 (3,629)
CASH FLOWS FROM il 6 B AR B

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Bank borrowings raised OB EMITER 10,665 -
Repayment of other borrowings R R A i £ (2,149) (1,606)
Repayment of lease liabilities B E A A (931) (6,178)
Interest paid ELAT AR (1,304) (1,453)
Repayment of bank borrowings B P SRAT B (1,587) (1,488)
NET CASH FROM/(USED IN) WIS () B &FH

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 4,694 (10,725)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN B4 REFBLA&EA RN,

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (W) 19,560 (11,411)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [ % & iy 52 %¢ (54) (283)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REBMZBERERHASER

AT THE BEGINNING OF

THE REPORTING PERIOD 58,538 70,232
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REMARZB & REFRBEEA

AT THE END OF THE REPORTING

PERIOD 23 78,044 58,538
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

GENERAL

QPL International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
a public limited company incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted company with limited liability and its shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office
of the Company is Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM12, Bermuda and its principal place of
business in Hong Kong is located at Unit H, 24/F., Golden
Bear Industrial Center, 66-82 Chai Wan Kok Street, Tsuen
Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
the manufacture and sale of integrated circuit leadframes,
heatsinks, stiffeners and related products, securities trading,
investment holding and money lending. Details of the
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set
out in Note 36.

The presentation currency of the consolidated financial
statements is Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also
the functional currency of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). HKFRS Accounting
Standards comprise all individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”); and interpretations issued by the
HKICPA. These consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. Material accounting
policy adopted by the Group are disclosed in Note 4.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are first effective
or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that
they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.
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5 1 SE 1 £ 1566-829% 43 RE L ZE 0244
H B4 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #& % =ZF =AW H =+ H IL4F R

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(A) APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO

HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
The Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on or after
1 May 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16

IR AW Y B A T A 0 I

e ) it e
(A) MBS 45T 7 o8 A 5 ¢ O i )
1t He H

AL O PR RS M B RE
UCHE I LLT i 7 s g R R 8
sy —FZHAERH —HlZ
% Bk 2 4 R R AR A A8
16 5T A v T 5 i A e Bt vE L

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

T vk S TR 2 R RIS 1658 2 1B T

Amendments to HKAS 1

vl g wUE R S5 198 2 AERT

Amendments to HKAS 1

vl g wE R S5 198 2 AERT

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

7 v e BB 7 5% K A vk B R E R
TR ZAETET

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (“HK Int 57)
(Revised)

TR RS ([FE RS
(REERT)

B 1% FH Il v 4 A 8 AR

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
AR5 5 IR ) 2 JE T )

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Bt 2l $2 4 2 FF T B A 6]

Supplier Finance Arrangements

A B 7l 2

Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
W R 2 2 — RS 5 % R E R R
EM R R Z M

The application of the amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards in the current year had
no material impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

TP A A E B ARG BT A s B i
o e S e A SR TR AR AR
JBE e TE 4F BE 2 &R B R UL &
RBL R BUA B A B R R T
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF
3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND 3. TR 808 T B AR5 T A S A S R
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS He W o st dEl) (48)
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)
(B) NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS (B)  CLBUAM 0 R A2 380 2 9w B %

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS IN ISSUE f w7 W BB o8 o )
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE H
The Group has not applied the following new and A AR B3 R RE T A A A R R
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that ZERZAETRH — H B IR 2
have been issued but are not yet effective for the AR BE R A R B R BB R A
financial year beginning 1 May 2024. These new and VR U 5 S 4 o B Y R o 525
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards and BT R REAE TT A U B S e T g
interpretation include the following which may be Fh e B R v R A 46 DL T AT g B AR
relevant to the Group. LA -

Amendments to HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1 — Lack of Exchangeability

WS AT U SR 215 K T o T 5 S R L) BB 19 2 AB T — B = ) SR

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 — Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments

A TR SRS R Y R A 098 M A vk B A ME ISR TR 2 B RT — e TR
I3 R

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11

T v P i Y R YR R AR R O — SR 1 1B

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 — Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity

A R S R Y R A5 9 9 M A vk T S A MR U SR TSR 2 ABRT — W K
WA RBREAEEENNEL

HKFRS 18 — Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

T W B A e RIS 18 5% — W R 2 B K R

HKFRS 19 - Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosure

R RS R e A 1958 — A L Z Rt AT Z I A W) - BiER

Amendments to HK Int 5 — Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

TR RS — B R Z 29 — 3 N B A % ER R R

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

R RS RS I EE 1058 M B d | R e ISR 28R 2 B RT — A &
BLH B A R s G a2 W 2 B SR

Effective for accounting
periods beginning

on or after

BT HBRZ®RMAGRZ
o 3R A

1 January 2025
R H¥E—H—H
1 January 2026

“FENE—HH

1 January 2026
SR CNFE—H—H
1 January 2026

“FENE—H

1 January 2027
X EFE—-H—H
1 January 2027
= LA
1 January 2027

—E-t&—H—H

To be determined
by the HKICPA
5 W & 1B € il E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

(B)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS IN ISSUE
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)
The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the above new and amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards will not have
material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future except for
HKFRS 18 which is detailed below.

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 “Presentation of
financial statements”, introducing new requirements
that will help to achieve comparability of the
financial performance of similar entities and
provide more relevant information and transparency
to users. Even though HKFRS 18 will not impact
the recognition or measurement of items in the
consolidated financial statements, HKFRS 18
introduces significant changes to the presentation
of financial statements, with a focus on information
about financial performance present in the
statement of profit or loss, which will affect how the
Group present and disclose financial performance
in the financial statements. The key changes
introduced in HKFRS 18 relate to (i) the structure
of the statement of profit or loss, (ii) required
disclosures for management-defined performance
measures (which are referred to alternative or non-
GAAP performance measures), and (iii) enhanced
requirements for aggregation and disaggregation of
information.

The directors of the Company are currently
assessing the impact of applying HKFRS 18 on the
presentation and the disclosures of the consolidated
financial statements.

3.

IR AW Y B A T A U I
et R (%9)

(B)

O A A EL i AR 2 2 2 50 ) B R
165 5 7 9 SO 0 S o ¥ ) o o
W (%)

A2 F) TR0 T b R T
BN BT A i 5 ek e R gt e
B AE T B A A 1 ) A5 T i
FAE R M T OGEE Z F
ik FUF 5 ot Y SR 18 BEBR A1 o

7 v B B e O e WS 18 5% [ I it
FZ B R Yo% ]

T RS i YE )5 18 9 AR
FHEGRHEREIS T HEREZ
201 5l AR KLUE - A B iR E B
R0 B P B R BLR AT LM 5 SI
i 5 42 14 57 2 HH B R KB W)
JE o A A ik B i o R R AR 18 5%
NEZEGS MBI ELTHH 2
AR ECE B U R O E RIS 18
R B R R 2 B 5] A KB
B HG A £ R A 25 R R
BLUEORL > HO 5 B8R B2 B 7E 5 it
o 5 B o e s R B O K
T RS i e I A5 1898 5 AR
TR () B R A (D)
LG R SR EE (FE R
FHARE TR ABRARIE) 2 BlE
PEHE 5 K (iid) In o8 B R HE AR K 4y B
ZER o

Ay w3 BLIE RV AG E A
B i 1% M ) 55 1 8 9% 3 K5 5 B HR
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% —F " T4 =+ H I

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost except for financial assets at
FVTPL which have been measured at fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires
the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 5.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
30 April. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The Group has power
over an entity when the Group has existing rights that give
it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e.
activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the
holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

ANNUAL REPORT 2025 4E 4t
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
loss, unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale). Cost includes direct attributable costs of investments.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented
in HKS, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial

statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using
the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at
the end of each reporting period. Gains or losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised
in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction
date is the date on which the company initially
recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.

4.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
(continued)

(iii)

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the Company’s presentation
currency are translated into the Company’s
presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the
exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of monetary items that form part of
the net investment in foreign entities are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the translation reserve. When a foreign operation is
sold, such exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.

4.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis at the following useful lives:

Leasehold properties
TH W) 3

Leasehold improvements
HEY KB

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
R ~ 2 E T ik i

Motor vehicles

HHE

Plant and machinery

et B st

Moulds, toolings and production films

T~ TR Je A S R

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in profit or loss.

4.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

LEASES

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from
that use.

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not to
separate non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily laptops and office furniture. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-
lease basis. The lease payments associated with those leases
which are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the lease liability. After initial recognition, the lease
liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense
is calculated using the effective interest method.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

- where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received;

- uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held
by the group companies, which does not have recent
third-party financing; and

- makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to
the individual lessee (through recent financing or market
data) which has a similar payment profile to the lease,
then the group entities use that rate as a starting point to
determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial
amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, and any initial direct
costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to their
present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, if any.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term, upon exercising
purchase options, the cost of the relevant right-of-use
assets and the related accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses are transferred to property, plant and
equipment.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% —F " T4 =+ H I

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-
of-use assets.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average
basis. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of all production overhead expenditure, and
where appropriate, subcontracting charges. The costs of
purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates
and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

RECOGNITION AND DERECOGNITION
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position when
the Group’s entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
RECOGNITION AND DERECOGNITION
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently
in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.

DEBT INVESTMENTS

Debt investments held by the Group are classified into
amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely payments
of principal and interest. Interest income from the
investment is calculated using the effective interest method.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the
Group makes an election to designate the investment at
FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE

4.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
INSTRUMENTS

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified

according to the substance of the contractual arrangements

entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and

an equity instrument under HKFRS Accounting Standards.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a

residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting

all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for

specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set

out below.

0]

(ii)

(iii)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless,
at the end of the reporting period, the Group has a
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the reporting period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply
with, on or before the end of the reporting period,
are considered in classifying loan arrangements with
covenants as current or non-current. Covenants
that the Group is required to comply with after the
reporting period do not affect the classification at
the reporting date.

Trade payables

Trade payables are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

4.

R BORE R (41
S BUR R B AR TR

AR AR TR SRR B Rl SL A A
PR 2 R A DA A BB R R R
e QI Al R OB AR TR 2 E S AT
IR e BBEAR TR 45 WY B A AR AR T B
i A B AR 2 B PR B E AR RO AT AT
A o WL E S TR B BOA TR BT R AR Y
& RFECR R Pk

@

(i)

(iii)

i 3%

T8 ) 2 4 2 S AE AN BR 5L 5 IR A
e 8 > FLAR BR L A S 325 44 40 i
BEAR T o B A% CH (41 BR 28 5
A ) B ] 4 R 2 [H] A9 AT AT 22 8
T A A TH] B R 3
R 48 P ERE o

W JF 7 i K > A A A RE
B2 HHEEREEREHERE D
TR A > & RSSO AR A
i -

A1 B 2 32 46 0 B % PR I 2 A
B 5JF B R > & 5 A 42 1 i
IR B2 iR ST Y LA o AR
i H S A G A i AR ZH ST
(NESORS 2 i

$ 5 WEAoF sk I
¥ 5 WE AT SRIEAN AP #2 8 SR REERR >
AR PR BRI 5 05 1 4 A
AECRECE SRS 2 N N
A B

Je A T A
Je A TR R 4 i W A R BT 4T
B P A B AR A PR R B ORE AR
AAE AT 5 4 o AR R 384T Z A T
FL 38 v Wiz 31 3 SE A0 BR L 4% 3 AT K
L YN



Ao o B 5 R M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% —F " T4 =+ H I

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any sales return and
trade discounts.

Revenue from manufacture and sale of integrated circuit
leadframes, heatsinks, stiffeners and related products are
recognised at a point in time when control of the asset
is transferred to a customer, generally on delivery of the
products. The normal credit term is 30 days to 90 days
upon delivery. Payment in advance is required for some
contracts.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the end of
the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE

4.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(i)

Pension obligations (continued)

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
plans, including state-managed retirement benefit
schemes and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered services entitling them to
the contributions.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the
PRC based employees of the Group participate
in various defined contribution retirement benefit
plans organised by the relevant municipal and
provincial governments in the PRC under which
the Group and the employees are required to
make monthly contributions to these plans
calculated as a percentage of the employees’
salaries, subject to certain ceiling. The municipal
and provincial governments undertake to assume
the retirement benefit obligations of all existing
and future retired PRC based employees payable
under the plans described above. Other than the
monthly contributions, the Group has no further
obligation for the payment of retirement and other
post-retirement benefits of its employees. The
assets of these plans are held separately from the
subsidiary in an independent fund managed by the
PRC government.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments
are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non-
market based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments
at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant
date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on
the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest
and adjusted for the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain directors and employees.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the
equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-
based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares
that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-
market based vesting conditions.

BORROWINGS COSTS
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit and at the time of transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R BORE R (41

B
JIT A5 B BA 32 A B HA JE 4Bl TH B AR ZE B IH
2 HEA o

B J0 R ARORRE T 42 4 1 B R i M) 5 o
P JFC At 4 32 R SR B B AT B 2 i A B
BH ST H Kok A ZH R B SO AT 403 2
TEH R R iR A A A BRI R 4R o A
A5 22 BRIV JE TG 2 4 0 OR Bt R
RECEC G2 BLARFH

0 JE B T % A B B R N B E I AR
R Th (EL B S 5 B SRR U ) PR T 2 A HE
e ) 2 IR 2 R D AR AE B A A R
KA R IR 2 A R - AR A
B VE L — R BT A AT TR R 2 R
AR AT RE A IR B i A DA B AT B
2 FH IR AR AT o R 2R R R R — TH IR
S MR SR B v B AN AN B i R 52 B
W B R 2 0 e R AR HL R
y W Sl 48 7 A S R Y B SR BEL AT 0
5 26 R0 AN & il 8 % S5 R IE B A 7
fafge

A0 S 50 JH £ 0 B 45 B B 4 AR B
JE R LT IR 2 R AT AR RT > ME A 4 [ e
122 T BT R 25 R A $55 0] e B IR S R W)
S R 2 AT E AS B 438 [ul 1 B BR Ak o A B
B R AT R IR 2 R T EE A Y R SE B
TEUE I TS AT AR AL A Y R R B e A ey
7 WS B U R T B ZE R R 4R HL
TE w1 R IR 22 Y AT T A0 R AR g ]



Ao o B 5 R M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

TAXATION (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. The Group recognises a deferred
tax asset related to lease liabilities to extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences can be utilised and a
deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities. Current and deferred tax are
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written
down as an expense through the consolidated statement
of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit (the “CGU”) to which the asset
belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use
and the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual
asset or the CGU.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/CGU. Present values are computed
using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset/CGU whose
impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for CGU are allocated first against
the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the CGU. Subsequent increases in the
recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates are
credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the
impairment.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECLs on
investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost, trade and other receivables and bank
balances and cash. The amount of ECLs is updated at the
end of each reporting period to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition of the respective financial
instrument.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% —F " T4 =+ H I

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time
value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the
credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures
the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events on a financial instrument that are possible
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the end of the
reporting period with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the
Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic expert
reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant
think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well as
consideration of various external sources of actual and
forecast economic information that relate to the Group’s
core operations.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular financial
instrument;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

- significant increases in credit risk on other financial

instruments of the same debtor; or

- an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% —F " T4 =+ H I

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if:

i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(i1) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term;
and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit
risk when the asset has external credit rating of “investment
grade” in accordance with the globally understood
definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset
has an internal rating of “performing”. Performing means
that the counterparty has a strong financial position and
there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes
as historical experience indicates that receivables that
meet either of the following criteria are generally not
recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

ANNUAL REPORT 2025 4E 4t

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WA EORE R ()

Sr b ¥R 2 WA (41

{55 S L B e (460)

il R - 3 LA 0
T fIA BB » S A 4 18180 HA S L B

0 A5 Tl 58 LA SIC Y2 AT B 3 - 7E DL R AR
DU > 4 T R E A A5 8RR -

) SR T H 2 A a1

(i) BB AT R B RE 0 R I R
FTHAHBERTE X

) 568 7 S T S BRI AN M B AL

N

i)y &

N < A R 2 A ERAE B R AT S 2
RAGERZ TBER] > S AP0 RT 51
ZHEUT > RERFFAR 2 TR A ) Wy > BIlA
LR T > W% B E 2 AR R B A
JB ) 8% 78 VR 3 T O BB IR UL R BB
A 8B KO -

A B2 ) S e A B R A B
5 I T R 2 A A > 0 A B
AT DATiRE DR 5% 56 R Ve R 480 7% 5 T A U T ik
il Hh £ e Mg B g

B Z &

TN B A B R B B o AR R S LA
T DU SR A S [ 2 A A B R
£ LA AR — 15 DU I ORI — i
W el o

- HFIERMBRL; K

= A1 7 o 5T B A A R A U A B
BRI BB AR KT RE R fE 2
HERA (BFEALER) 2G5 (R
FF A B A Z AL TR ) o

79



80

QPL INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

o o B 5 i M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(continued)

Definition of default (continued)

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

- the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, including when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or
in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over
two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries
made are recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the end of the
reporting period.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in
the previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified approach was
used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY
ESTIMATES

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 4, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements (other than those involving
estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts
recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors of the Company have made the following
judgements that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements
(apart from those involving estimations, which are dealt
with below).

Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in Note 4, ECL are measured as an allowance
equal to 12-month ECL for stage | assets, or lifetime ECL
for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2
when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what constitutes
a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether
the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased, the
Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative
reasonable and supportable forward-looking information.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period, that might have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below:

Allowance for ECL on loan receivables

The management of the Group estimates the amount of
allowance for ECL on loan receivables based on the credit
risk of loan receivables. The amount of the allowance
based on ECL model is measured as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. Where the
future cash flows are less than expected, or being revised
downward due to changes in facts and circumstances, a
material allowance for ECL may arise.

As at 30 April 2025, the carrying amounts of loan
receivables was approximately HK$45,414,000 (2024:
HKS$44,050,000) (net of allowance for ECL of
approximately HK$41,837,000 (2024: HK$36,880,000)).
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables

The management of the Group estimates the amount of
allowance for ECL on trade receivables using provision
matrix based on the information including credit profile
of different customers, ageing of the trade receivables,
historical settlement records, subsequent settlement
status, expected timing and amount of realisation of
outstanding balances, and on-going trading relationship
with the relevant customers. The management of the
Group also considered forward-looking information that
may impact the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding
balances in order to estimate the allowance for ECL of
trade receivables. Where the actual outcome varied when
compared to expected, or being revised downward due to
changes in facts and circumstances, a material allowance
for ECL many arise.

As at 30 April 2025, the carrying amount of trade
receivables was approximately HK$54,575,000 (2024:
HKS$58,440,000) (net of allowance for ECL of
approximately HK$3,087,000 (2024: HK$4,681,000)).

Allowance for inventories

Allowance for inventories is made based on the ageing
and estimated net realisable value of inventories. The
assessment of the allowance amount involves judgement
and estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is
different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact the carrying value of inventories and its allowance
in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

As at 30 April 2025, the carrying amount of inventories
was approximately HK$90,904,000 (2024: HK$83,178,000)
(net of allowance of approximately HK$12,977,000 (2024:
HK$13,767,000)).
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at costs less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. In
determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has
to exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly
in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any
indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether
the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and
an appropriate discount rate. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth
rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the
net present value used in the impairment test.

As at 30 April 2025, the carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment was amounted to approximately
HK$116,994,000 (2024: HK$122,184,000). No impairment
loss on property, plant and equipment was recognised
during the years ended 30 April 2025 and 2024.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, equity price
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group operates mainly in the PRC and Hong Kong
and its monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are
principally denominated in the functional currencies of
the respective group entities, which are mainly HKS or
Renminbi (“RMB”). The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management
closely monitors foreign exchange exposure to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Since most of the monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the respective group entities, the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that the foreign currency
risk is insignificant, and hence, no sensitivity analysis is
presented.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate loan receivables, fixed-rate bond
receivables, fixed-rate lease liabilities and fixed-rate bank
borrowing (see Notes 21, 22, 27 and 28 respectively for
details).

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances (Note 23) and
variable-rate bank borrowings (Note 28). The Group
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances and
prime rate arising from the Group’s HK$ denominated
borrowings. The Group aims at keeping borrowings at
variable rates. The Group manage its interest rate exposure
by assessing the potential impact arising from any interest
rate movements bases on interest rate level and outlook.
The management will review the proportion of borrowings
in fixed and floating rates and ensure they are within
reasonable range.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% —F " T4 =+ H I

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

INTEREST RATE RISK (continued)

No sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk on bank
balances and bank borrowings is presented as the directors
of the Company consider the net exposure of interest rate
risk on bank balances and bank borrowings is insignificant.

EQUITY PRICE RISK

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
financial assets at FVTPL. The Group’s financial assets
at FVTPL have significant concentration of price risk in
the Hong Kong stock market. All of these investments are
equity securities listed in the Stock Exchange. Management
manages the exposure by maintaining a portfolio of equity
investments of the Group with different risk profiles.

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss for the year that would arise
assuming that the changes in the price of the respective
trading securities had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to remeasure those financial
instruments held by the Group which expose the Group to
equity price risk at the end of the reporting period.

At 30 April 2025, if the price of the respective equity
instruments had been 30% (2024: 30%) higher/lower,
with all other variables held constant, loss before tax for
the year ended 30 April 2025 would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$18,194,000 (2024: HK$18,773,000).

CREDIT RISK

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, loan receivables,
bond receivables, bank balances and deposits with other
financial institutions. Management has a credit policy in
place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored
on an ongoing basis.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime ECL provision for trade receivables. To measure
the ECL under the provision matrix, trade receivables have
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics.
The Group has performed historical analysis and identified
the key economic variables impacting credit risk and
expected credit losses. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information.

6.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6.
(continued)

CREDIT RISK (continued)
For other instruments, the Group measures loss allowance
under general approach.

Loan receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approval and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken for the
recoverable amount. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual’s loan receivables at
the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate
allowance for ECL are made for irrecoverable amounts.

The Group manages and analyses the credit risk for
each of their new and existing clients before standard
payment terms and conditions are offered. If there is no
independent rating, the Group assesses the credit quality
of the customer based on the customer’s financial position,
past experience and other factors.

In determining the ECL of the Group’s loan receivables, the
management assessed the allowance for ECL individually
by estimation based on general economic conditions of the
relevant industry in which the debtors operate, value of
any pledged assets, financial position of the debtors and
an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the end of the reporting period.

The Group has no concentration risk on the loan
receivables. The Group seeks to minimise its risk by dealing
with counterparties which have good credit history.
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As at 30 April 2025

REFZREMNA=1H

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
5P B 5B =R B B st
ECL rate ERUEERSY 7R 2.2% 17.6% 69.2%
Loan receivables, gross JRE Wi B Rk A AE
(HK$’000) (F#sT) 8,400 25,078 53,773 87,251
Less: Allowance for ECL W EE
(HK$°000) e 4R 4 A
(Fi#) (184) (4,422) (37,231) (41,837)
Loan receivables, net JARE Wi £ R I A
(HK$’000) (F#0) 8,216 20,656 16,542 45,414
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. WB M BE AR ()
(continued)
CREDIT RISK (continued) 5 B (A7)
Loan receivables (continued) JE W Bk ()
As at 30 April 2024
AZE AN A =1H
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
H— B 5P =B Mgt
ECL rate TR s R % 1.6% 11.7% 59.0%
Loan receivables, gross (HK$'000) MEUC B3 404 (T D) 3,677 18,554 58,699 80,930
Less: Allowance for ECL I EAE B R
(HKS$°000) B (T¥T) (58) (2,171) (34,651) (36,880)
Loan receivables, net (HK$000)  MENCE T4 (Ti0) 3,619 16,383 24,048 44,050
Movements for ECL on loan receivables are as follows: JRE Wi B R 2 T A S Bl R s W)
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
P B B 5= fst
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000 HKS$’000
TH#T T T#T T
At | May 2023 RoFE-=ZHEHA—H 346 14,450 14,502 29,298
Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2 B 5 — I B 20 I B (282) 282 - -
Transfer from stage 2 to stage 3 5 I B 20 = B - (10,363) 10,363 -
Reversal of ECL upon written-off  fift 85 % 1 7] 7 39 5 4% s 18 - - (3,959) (3,959)
(Reversal of)/allowance for JE i BE SR A 5 B s 48
ECL on loan receivables (Bl B (6) (2,198) 13,745 11,541
At 30 April 2024 and 1 May 2024 RZFZHFEMA =1+ H K
ZETINERA—H 58 2,171 34,651 36,380
Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2 A — T B 20 P B (58) 58 - =
Reversal of ECL upon written-off  fift 8 £ % [n] 76} {5 &5 4R - - (2,239) (2,239)
Allowance for ECL on JRE i 5 TR A A 4R
loan receivables i) 184 2,193 4,819 7,196
At 30 April 2025 REFZTAENA =+H 184 4,422 37,231 41,837
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

CREDIT RISK (continued)

Loan receivables (continued)

Loan receivables are categorised into the following stages
by the Group:

Stage 1

Loan receivables have not experienced a significant increase
in credit risk since origination and impairment recognised
on the basis of 12 months ECL (12-month ECLs).

Stage 2

Loan receivables to customers have experienced a
significant increase in credit risk since origination and
impairment is recognised on the basis of lifetime ECL (Lifetime
ECLs non credit-impaired).

Stage 3
Loan receivables that are in default and considered credit
impaired (Lifetime ECLs credit impaired).

In assessing whether the credit risk of loan receivables
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring on the loan
receivables assessed at the end of the reporting period with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making
this reassessment, the Group considers that a default event
occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held);
or (ii) the financial asset is past due for more than 90 days.
The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

CREDIT RISK (continued)

Loan receivables (continued)

Stage 3 (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
loan receivables’s external or internal credit rating (if
available);

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group; and

- the financial asset is past due.

Trade receivables

The Group has a concentration of credit risk in certain
individual customers. At the end of each reporting
period, the five largest receivables balances accounted for
approximately 78% (2024: 72%) of the trade receivables and
the largest receivable was approximately 37% (2024: 38%)
of the Group’s total trade receivables. The Group seeks to
minimise its risk by dealing with counterparties which have
good credit history. Majority of the trade receivables that
are neither past due nor impaired have no default payment
history.

6.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #& % =ZF =AW H =+ H IL4F R

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
CREDIT RISK (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

6. WABSEBE AL (4)

fr ML B (%)
V& W S 5 Rk ()

Trade receivables — days past due

HE W S 5% Bk — A0 90 H

Not Within Over
As at 30 April 2025 past due 30 days  31-60 days  61-90 days 90 days Total
BB ZRAENAZFA A3 30H M 31-60H 61-90H  90HM E Mgt
ECL rate HME ERERE 2.07% 5.84% 9.27% 64.94% 100%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)  #8HRHE & (T 0) 38,959 13,997 3,485 231 990 57,662
Lifetime ECL (HK$'000) 2WEMERER
(F#) (806) (818) (323) (150) (990) (3,087)
Trade receivables, net (HK$'000)  FEUT B 5 IRk i3 5
(T¥#T) 38,153 13,179 3,162 81 - 54,575
Trade receivables — days past due
W 'Z 5 B — a9 H
Not Within Over
As at 30 April 2024 past due 30 days  31-60 days  61-90 days 90 days Total
AZEZAENA =AH i@ 30H 4 31-60H 61-90H  90HBIL Hst
ECL rate R UIERSY RS 2.45% 7.42% 16% 32.72% 100%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) — AAHR i i (F¥#0) 40,800 14,279 5,800 813 1,429 63,121
Lifetime ECL (HK$'000) 2WENE R
(F#7T) (999) (1,059) (928) (266) (1,429) (4,681)
Trade receivables, net (HKS'000)  FEUE 5 R 3% 4
(F¥0) 39,801 13,220 4872 547 - 58,440

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the

simplified approach:

RPN Ry 4 AL T I EJEETA
R 2 4 W TEINAE B 4R 2 B B FE A

Total

HK$’000

T

At 1 May 2023 R Z=FEA—H 4,842

Reversal of ECL TE A5 A0 e 48 43 1) (161)
At 30 April 2024 and 1 May 2024 ATECINEMA =+ &

ZERZIERA—H 4,681

Reversal of ECL TE A5 B e 48 43 1) (1,594)

At 30 April 2025 AZEZTRAENHA =1H 3,087
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. W 5 R B 4 B ()
(continued)
CREDIT RISK (continued) fvi £ B (4)
Other receivables and deposits {7 Wk T B R A
For other receivables and deposits, the management ol L Ath R AR T R R T A PR AR B
make periodic individual assessment on the recoverability WAL B RO R KB DL K A A
of other receivables and deposits based on historical SHLE S R 0 0 I M e R R e R o
settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative S JHL At R WS R TR R A 4 Y T i [l o AT
and qualitative information that is reasonable and A8 BT A o A PR R 2 % AE ACH I 5 A
supportive forward-looking information. The management JEL B 1B A7) G R DA SRS I B K - HLAS
believes that there is no significant increase in credit risk SE OO R 1248 A S B0 SR ST R
of these amounts since initial recognition and the Group R
provided impairment based on 12-month ECL.
As at
30 April 2025
/S < T
MA=+H
Stage 1
BB
ECL rate iR ARy RS 2.31%
Other receivables and deposits, gross (HK$ 000) JH: fib i i 35 18 K 4% 4 #8485 (T o0) 6,720
Less: ECL allowance (HK$000) W TEAE SR (T (155)
Other receivables and deposits, net (HKS$000)  H:fib I Ul 35 18 K 4% 4 35 88 (T o0) 6,565
As at
30 April 2024
W A
MH=+H
Stage 1
55— P B
ECL rate R CIEREY FEES 0.82%
Other receivables and deposits, gross (HKS$ 000) H: fth Ui 35 8 K 4% 4 #88 (T#00) 13,856
Less: ECL allowance (HK$°000) W UG S IR (T D) (114)
Other receivables and deposits, net (HK$000)  H:{th Ul 3 8 K 4% 4 35 88 (T 00) 13,742

93



94

QPL INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o B 5 i M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #& % =ZF =AW H =+ H IL4F R
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6.
(continued)

CREDIT RISK (continued)

Other receivables and deposits (continued)

Movements for ECL on other receivables and deposits are
as follows:

S L g 4 B (A

i S LB (f0)

A W R 8 ()

S O 4 e 2 B A £ R
SEREN W

Stage 1

BB

HKS$ 000

THIT

At 1 May 2023 WoFE = AHA—H 46
Allowance for ECL TE A5 B s iR 1 A 68
At 30 April 2024 and 1 May 2024 W FE PN A =+ H A= F A H—H 114
Allowance for ECL TE A Bl iR 1A 41
At 30 April 2025 WZE_HAEMA=+H 155

Bond receivables

For bond receivables, the management make periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of bond
receivables based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information.

JE g 5 2

SRS 23 T A L AR A A A R
Bk R AC B DA MR B L E R E R (B &
HH A PR SRR AT IS VR R o o
AR e ) T o [ A A A A

As at

30 April 2025

RoR A

WH=+H

Stage 3

BB

ECL rate HHE SR 1R 69.07%

Bond receivables, gross (HK$000)  MEU & 40%8 (T 0) 20,935
Less: ECL allowance (HK$’000) B TR B R A

(T¥#IT) (14,460)
Bond receivables, net (HKS$’000) JE Y A 25 1 R (T 0T) 6,475
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(continued)
CREDIT RISK (continued)

Bond receivables (continued)

ANNUAL REPORT 2025 4E 4t

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. WM BEAYBL (4H)

As at 30 April

2024

AR AR

MH=1H

Stage 3

5B

ECL rate G SRR 52.73%
Bond receivables, gross (HK$’000) JE W fE 25 4838 (T oT) 23,775
Less: ECL allowance (HKS$ 000) W G R (T#on) (12,537)
Bond receivables, net (HK$’000) JE YA 5 F 3 (T oT) 11,238

Movements for ECL on bond receivables are as follows:

JE WA 2 1) TS A5 s 1R S B 2 T

Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
MR BERR st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$ 000
T o0 T Tt
At 1 May 2023 M-EF =T H—H 2,864 - 2,864
Transfer from stage 2 to stage 3 B B
=B (2,864) 2,864 -
Allowance for ECL TE MG B R - 9,673 9,673
At 30 April 2024 and 1 May 2024 WZFZMWENHA =+ H K&
ZETWAERA—H - 12,537 12,537
Allowance for ECL TH WG B tH A - 1,923 1,923
At 30 April 2025 MNoFZHFMA =1H - 14,460 14,460
OTHER CREDIT RISKS J b 47 £ ML B

The credit risk on bank balances and deposits with other
financial institutions is limited because the majority

of the counterparties are reputable banks and other Ty B R 2 SR AT B LAt 4 ml b A > I %
financial institutions with high credit-ratings assigned by B PR A5 BT AR M A 4 T I 15 AT AR - A
international credit agencies. The Group assessed 12-month S5 VB A0 SR AT A B B AF WO Ath 4 Rl g 1
ECL for bank balances and deposits with other financial ZAF K n?ﬁlﬂﬁlﬂ A B 1R - AR 4R

institutions. Based on the average loss rates, the 12-month
ECL on bank balances and deposits with other financial W2 A7 3 2 1241 7 78 45 5 e B 0
AN R - R N A R 0 A R e 4

institutions is considered to be insignificant and therefore
no allowance for ECL was recognised.

5 o

SRAT A5 B SAF O At 2 A M 2 A7 K
15 S5 L B A PR > D ERL 5 R 0 38 T 44

P 1B 3 SR AT A BR B A O H A 4 i AK
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not
be able to meet its obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by cash or other financial assets.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. The management of the
Group is satisfied that the Group has sufficient financial
resources to meet its financial obligations as they full due
through monitoring internally generated funds, raising new
funds through placing of shares and monitoring closely on
the utilisation of bank and other borrowings.

The Group also relied on bank and other borrowings
as a significant source of liquidity. The Group’s policy
is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
and to arrange additional banking facilities, to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

The following table includes both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate
at the end of the reporting period.

6.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

SV e g 4 B ()

(continued)
LIQUIDITY RISK (continued) o) A B ()
Liquidity and interest rate tables T B 5 R F A
Weighted Repayable Total
average on Less than Ito2 2t05  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate demand 1 year years years cash flows amount
il A AMBB &
AR ERERE 17 1226 WS HRAN e
% HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$'000
% Tt Tk T Tt T T
2025 “ROLE
Non-derivative financial liabilities Fhikam AR
Trade and other payables B 5 RO F0R NIA i i - 13,545 - - 13,545 13,545
Other payables and accrued expenses  H A RES SR MR &1 NIA A - 67,198 - - 67,198 67,198
Other borrowings & NIA il 11,873 - - - 11,873 11,873
Bank borrowings BT & 3.05 44,450 - - - 44,450 44,450
Lease liabilities fEaH 297 - 987 987 584 2,558 2435
56,323 81,730 987 584 139,624 139,501
2024 SRTE
Non-derivative financial liabilities ik am AR
Trade and other payables B 5 R E A FOR N/A R F - 18,110 - - 18,110 18,110
Other payables and accrued expenses ~ FMREM ZUR R £ NA R - 63,276 - - 63,276 63,276
Other borrowings Hibf & NIA R H 14,022 - - - 14,022 14,022
Bank borrowings RATEE 3.63 35372 - - - 35,372 35,372
Lease liabilities HEAHK 362 - 987 987 1,193 3,167 2,945
49,394 82,373 987 1,193 133,947 133,725

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ
to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of
the reporting period.

The following table summaries the maturity analysis of
non-derivative financial liabilities with repayable on demand
clause based on agreed scheduled repayments set out in the
loan agreements. The amount includes interest payments
computed using contractual rates. Taking into account the
Group’s consolidated financial position, the directors of
the Company do not consider that it is probable that the
bank will exercise its discretion to immediate repayment.
The directors of the Company believe that such financial
liabilities will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

s 58 5 2 ) 4 AR W R
2 AR » B o I 2
pF CESWRT TR

T M AL R A SRR o Bk JF AT R
<o Al B B el T S A E R 2
PEm R S W - A B SR B 4
Al 5t B0 FE K IH © 25 8 B A B A
BABSAR DL > A 2 ) 38 35 58 2 SR AT A K AT g
T E A EZOR IR R K - A AR H
TRy > WA < B R 4% TR o T
) T AE 72 3K H AR o
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. WHEBEFA ()
(continued)
LIQUIDITY RISK (continued) ) A B ()
Maturity Analysis — subject to a repayment on demand FI WG I BT — BRAFHE 3L 2 15 2K
clause based on scheduled repayments 15 75 1 3K R
More than More than
1year but 2 years but Total
Within less than less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years Syears cash outflows amount
14 24 ARG &

VER AR HARSE HBSE A S i {0
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt

At 30 April 2025 REFEZHENA=AH
Bank borrowings RATH B 13,652 2,672 8,017 29,180 53,521 44,450
At 30 April 2024 RZERZENHA =41
Bank borrowings BT 2,800 2,800 8,400 33,384 47,384 35372
CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL 4k T H B0
INSTRUMENTS
2025 2024
B HAE TR U
HK$’000 HK$’000
F# T T
Financial assets 4x b B B
FVTPL A S E A 5
— Listed equity securities N &N 60,647 62,578
Amortised cost 14 5% A 191,073 186,008
Financial liabilities 4 ik £ 1
Amortised cost 8 A 137,066 130,780
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets A ) 4l E K Rl BRE R SR A B RS
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated RO T g 2 B EEHE LA B2 AR
statement of financial position approximate their respective fHAR A

fair values.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access
at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

Disclosure of level in fair value hierarchy and valuation
process used by the Group and valuation techniques and
inputs used in fair value measurements at 30 April 2025
and 2024:

Fair value
AR
Financial instruments 2025 2024
SRR Y X R
Financial assets at FEVTPL HKS$60,647,000% € HK$62,578,000i 7t

- equity securities listed in Hong Kong
BAREFARGZ RHERE
—REE LA A

During the years ended 30 April 2025 and 2024, there was
no transfer between instrument in Level 1 and 2.

ANNUAL REPORT 2025 4E 4t
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NRMERERE AW H20ERA
J7 28 By v A T s R B A
SCATRYE RS © DUR BEER IO 8 AR (B FHE E R
RN A REERE A AR EEA L E
PARTEE LN € o X R

Eﬁ%&ﬁ)\%ﬁ% CARSEE A G E H O N
1 AR 7] 2 ol B A TG B T 8 2
*%ﬁ?)ﬁl% o

55 A N B ¢ B ] R
Tﬁ%ﬂmﬁl B A B (BB — SIS 2
BRI

O = Bl A BOE - E A SR A A AT B
LN &8

A G2 [ Y DB SRR Y A SO 2 S
DAL 2 H o RRERE =R AR 2 W AT
o s A R A o

AR HAERECWEMA=4H
AT 2 o SO AR 5 AR A (B R > LA
e SAE w8 BT (8 ) 22 A (B 45 filr K%
ABAR R IT

Significant
Fair value Valuation techniques unobservable
hierarchy and key inputs inputs
ARMEER  WESREEERARE ERATEEEARRE
Level 1 Quoted bid prices in N/A
B an active market N1
RN AR
RRE F AR CF AR A

=tH J}:EEZ R RE R TAZH
S 4 % A WAL
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

REVENUE

Revenue represents the amounts received and receivables
for goods sold by the Group to external customers less
value added tax or other sales taxes, sales return and trade
discounts. All revenue contracts are for period of one year
or less, and therefore, as permitted by practical expedient
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed. All revenue were
recognised at point in time within the scope of HKFRS 15.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”), for the purpose of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on the location
of customers. The Group currently operates in one business
segment in the manufacture and sale of integrated circuit
leadframes, heatsinks, stiffeners and related product.
A single management team reports to the CODM who
comprehensively manages the entire business.

In accordance with the way information is internally
reported to the CODM for resources allocation and
segment performance based on the location of customers,
the Group has identified eight reportable segments on a
geographical basis. The customers of the Group are mainly
located in the United States of America (the “USA”), Hong
Kong, Europe, the PRC, Philippines, Malaysia, Singapore
and Thailand. Customers located in other countries have
been aggregated into a single reportable segment as these
segments do not meet the quantitative thresholds as set out
in HKFRS 8.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% —F " T4 =+ H I

8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)
SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from
contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15

8. Wik Koo iR (47)

oy W ERE ()
VgL E Y ES

AR 7 A 42 181 4% W i o 0 380 1 00 09 7 ok
AR e i ME SIS M w P A A

and results by reportable segments: N ETYSE -/ I
Revenue Segment results
i i ViR E S
2025 2024 2025 2024
CECHSE —EFONE ZFEHRE —ENUE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T T
At a point in time FHE— I [
The USA EC 21,136 12,699 1,839 868
Hong Kong ik 1,036 620 160 64
Europe ik 21,087 14,496 3,296 1,502
The PRC G 96,964 104,854 15,161 10,864
Philippines FHE 34,915 37,713 5,460 3,908
Malaysia 5 7 g 124,777 78,815 19,508 8,166
Singapore Ew 1B 3,322 4,618 519 478
Thailand e 2,504 4,651 392 482
Reportable segment total YR A A 305,741 258,466 46,335 26,332
Other countries HoAh 8 5 5,075 8,557 794 887
310,816 267,023 47,129 27,219
Elimination Eaxe| (9,365) (4,324) = -
Revenue to external customers AN Pl ds &
and segment results* VIRES 301,451 262,699 47,129 27,219
Net gain on disposal of property, i HE¥3 B 2
plant and equipment i 4 v A 743 115
Net gain on early termination of 2. 4 1L & 2 i %
lease FHH 70 =
Net fair value losses on BN REF AR Z
financial assets at FVTPL EMEENE
i 48 1 A (4,165) (21,997)
Realised gain/(loss) on disposal & #/A R EF A4
of financial assets at FVTPL, ZaEmEREZCEB
net Wedi, (B5iR) 3 814 (264)
Net allowance for ECL on loan  FEYC &7 MENfE 5
receivables, bond receivables, LA JRE WA TR R 4
other receivables and deposits Z TG B 1R
FH (6,921) (21,282)
Depreciation of property, Y2~ et Ot <
plant and equipment e (8,873) (7,910)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {8 i 1 & i 2 41 # (1,012) (5,030)
Unallocated interest income Ko A B A 4,543 8,459
Unallocated other income 74 T A A = 1,751
Unallocated corporate expenses A7 it 4 3 il (31,504) (40,908)
Finance costs il A (1,304) (1,453)
Loss before tax W ol 1 s 12 (480) (61,300)
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)
SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenue and results (continued)
Revenue from contracts with external customers under
HKFRS 15 amounted to approximately HK$314,311,000.
This includes segment presented above and sales of by-
products and scrap of approximately HK$12,860,000
included in note 9.

Included in the PRC reportable segment is revenue from
inter-segments of approximately HK$9,365,000 (2024:
HK$4,324,000).

The accounting policies of the operating segment are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment results
represent the results from each segment without allocation
of corporate expenses which include staff costs and central
administrative costs, depreciation expenses, net gain on
disposal of property, plant and equipment, net gain on early
termination of lease, net fair value losses on financial assets
at FVTPL, realised gain/(loss) on disposal of financial
assets at FVTPL, net, net allowance for ECL on loan
receivables, bond receivables, other receivables and deposits,
interest income and finance costs. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resources
allocation and performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF
8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 8. Wtk B o BB (FE)
INFORMATION (continued)
SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 23 W BB ()
Segment assets 43 B & B
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets by DLUTR B A 4 [ 4% W 3k o0 5 BT #) 43  EE
reportable segment: Trade receivables, included within 2O R B IR AR (FEA A )
segment assets, are presented based on the location of the T3 % F et 251 -
customers.
2025 2024
e N - TR T4
HKS$’000 HK$’000
F# TH T
The USA * 2,439 2,227
Hong Kong s 330 136
Europe el 5,983 2,320
The PRC h 13,248 21,899
Philippines FERE 8,827 5,553
Malaysia F5 2R 7 B 21,416 24,735
Singapore B 1,169 461
Thailand S 310 415
Reportable segment total A i o3 AR 53,722 57,746
Other countries HoAth [ & 853 694
54,575 58,440
Unallocated & 43 AL
Property, plant and equipment ERE E oY & 116,994 122,184
Right-of-use assets i A o 2,328 2,849
Inventories 8 90,904 83,178
Financial assets at FVTPL N REFI AL 2 SRS E 60,647 62,578
Other receivables HC At R iR 4,196 10,920
Deposits and prepayments i AN #OA 5,489 7,310
Loan receivables JRE U B 3K 45,414 44,050
Bond receivables JRE i 5 2 6,475 11,238
Cash and cash equivalents B4 KGR B4 H 78,044 58,538

Consolidated total assets A EREBMN 465,066 461,285
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment assets (continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, all assets are
allocated to operating segments other than property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, financial assets at
FVTPL, inventories, other receivables, loan receivables,
bond receivables, deposits and prepayments and cash and
cash equivalents.

In measuring the Group’s segment assets, inventories of
approximately HK$90,904,000 (2024: HK$83,178,000)
were not allocated to the reporting segments. However,
the relevant effect in the profit or loss were included in the
measurement of segment results of each reporting segment.
In the opinion of the CODM, such asymmetrical allocation
is in accordance with the internal management reports
for the purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment and it is not feasible to provide the effect of
such asymmetrical allocation in accordance with HKFRS 8.

No segment information on liabilities is presented as
such information is not regularly reported to the CODM
for the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment.

Geographical information by location of assets

The Group’s non-current assets of approximately
HK$26,010,000 (2024: HK$27,708,000) are located
in the PRC and approximately HK$93,312,000 (2024:
HK$97,325,000) are located in Hong Kong based on
physical location of assets.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding reporting
periods contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the
Group are as follows:
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i 8 BT A S R B B 4y AR A A R
Z BB E E B #126,010,0008 00 ( &
P41 27,708,000% 0 ) Kt & s 2 I
Wi B & A B 4993,312,000% T (& Y
4£:97,325,00085 7T ) ©

HEREFRZEM
P A S U0 T A A 4R T A0 £ 10% LA
EZHEFWEWT

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

Tt T T

Customer A — Malaysia R = HARG 88,385 67,362

Customer B — The PRC BPEZ—¥ 40,575 44,275
Information about major products A FEEERZER

The Group is solely engaged in the manufacture and sale
of integrated circuit leadframes, heatsinks, stiffeners and
related products. Since the information on revenue from
external customers for each product and service is not
regularly reviewed by the CODM, no information related
to major products could be disclosed.

A S V5 o O % B B R LR B 51 AR
HE ~ HICAAAS ~ 5 A5 R A B S o 2 S
F A T AR PSR I o D R B A
i S I B 1) S0 B W AR R > Il M A
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10.
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OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS 9. JABWBOA DL I A W 2

2025 2024
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T# T
Other income H il e A
Sales of by-products and scrap I E ity e B L 8 12,860 11,658
Bank interest income SRAT A B LA 751 461
Interest income from loan receivables 2 A ME i B 5 2 Fl Bt A 3,432 6,698
Interest income from bond receivables & [ Mk {5 25 2 F] Bt A 360 1,300
Sundry income HEIH WA 20 1,762
17,423 21,879
Other gains H At Wy £
Net gain on disposal of property, ) 2E - TR IR 2 i AR i
plant and equipment 743 115
Gain on early termination of lease R IEHE Z ki 70 -
813 115
FINANCE COSTS 10. @& AR
2025 2024
S N Y ZER YA
HK$’000 HKS$’000
Tt T
Interest on: DU & TH 2 A
Lease liabilities & A fE 119 152
Bank borrowings AT R 1,185 1,301
1,304 1,453
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11.

o o B 5 i M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current tax: B[ I
PRC Enterprise Income Tax o B A 26 TS B
(the “EIT™) (T E2ERTTRHRL])

P 5 B8 B 3¢
2025 2024
SROEAE S EUE
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T#IT
583 94

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
since the Group has sufficient tax losses brought forward
to offset against current year’s assessable profit for the both
years.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, EIT has been
provided at a rate of 25% for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions are calculated at the
rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated
unused tax losses of approximately HK$480,991,000
(2024: HK$486,524,000), that are available indefinitely
for offsetting against future taxable profits. As at 30 April
2025, the Group had deductible temporary difference of
approximately HK$6,497,000 (2024: HK$2,083,000). No
deferred tax asset has been recognised (2024: HK§Nil) in
respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

FH 7 A% 4 7S T M 4 T A A B A R
T s 18 W] 1B AR 4R 2 M R B Ik ) > I
30 7 s A A5 B AT Hh R A

AR5 P B A 36 P AR Bk (T 4R 36 BT 15 Bt
1) BeA 3 B 45 Bk M 1> % A A
4 JE A 2 T 15 B 44 4525% B B AR wHR -

A w35 HE 7 A 2 B A i A B WD Uk R
& 2 AT Bl ARG

A R A SR A A R R B B IE
J&5 15 #7480,991,000% & ( — & — Y 4 :
486,524,000 J©.) A 48 KR 1) A A 4 B R 2k
JE B R o i —F HAFWH =+H >
A A AT 0 B 25 %8 406,497,000
JG (T F TP04E £ 2,083,0009 90) o MR
A 5 TE ) S 2 s A7 I > ST A kA B Ok
MR EAE B i (U UAE B
JG) e
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11.

Ao o B 5 R M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 11. P Bib 3¢ (%)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to A AR 3 I AR B B S B AT 4E A B H At 4
the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit THT Ui 45 32 i 91 B Bl A s 42 2 IR 40 -
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:
2025 2024
“® AR —F Y4
HK$’000 HK$°000
T#n T# T
Loss before tax ok B4 T Jis 4R (480) (61,300)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits FEFR B AR A16.5%
Tax rate of 16.5% (2024:16.5%) (ZF U4 :16.5%)
it B2 BiA (79) (10,115)
Effect of different tax rates A 7 3 [
in other jurisdictions ENGIE a2 264 50
Tax effect of expenses not deductible A~ 7] 41138 B 52
for tax purpose 2B R 1,454 4,332
Tax effect of income not taxable B R 145()\
for tax purpose Z BT (871) (347)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised o fiff 58 Bi 15 s 48 & B 55 5 2 3,043 5,782
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses B FI LA A R HERRBLH 48 2
previously not recognised Bl 5 2 (3,956) -
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary & 58 B RF 22 48 2 Bl 2 2
differences 728 392
Income tax expense JIr 454 B 5 583 94
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12.

o o B 5 i M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #& % =ZF =AW H =+ H IL4F R
LOSS FOR THE YEAR 12, A4 B 4
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging the AAEFE RO IR TIIEA -
followings:
2025 2024
R R TR YA
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FH T
Directors’ emoluments (Note 15) =R (HELS)

payment expense 2,187 4,330
Salaries and allowances of other staff At {E B 2 # 4 M Al 89,257 86,475
Contributions to retirement benefit AR AR Bt 2 B AR

scheme contributions of other staff i B w1 ARk 7,842 8,059

99,286 98,864
Auditor’s remuneration*® A2 S P 5

— Audit services — AR 650 650
Expenses relating to short-term leases* & KA B #H B B 32 * 11,596 12,160
Depreciation of property, W2~ Wi Bt 2 I8

plant and equipment 8,873 7,910
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ARG E e 1,012 5,030
Loss on written-off of loan receivables* M i &8 2K i & = K518 * (M 72 )

(Note) 4,246 12,358
Exchange losses, net [ifE 5, s 48 15 AR 554 442
* Included in other operating expenses * GYAFAEAEE L
Note: Carrying amount of loan receivables of approximately Mt WE -F _RHAFEMA =+ HIEFE

HK$4,246,000 (2024: HK$12,358,000) has been written
off during the year ended 30 April 2025 when there is
information indicating that those debtors are in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. The Group has taken legal action against the
debtors to recover the amount due.

1 T (B 474,246,000 7T ( % L JU4E
12,358,0009 7T ) A4 ME W 530 2T g
JEC IR AT L R (B S N A i
5 VR e > R B TR i [ A B R R
Mo ARG E B OB AN RBOL T H)
PLIE &R K -
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13.

14.

Ao o B 5 R M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

LOSS PER SHARE 13, #BE#

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share AN AR N AL 09 5 B B AR 4 T o
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the BT T 5 BUgE R A

following data:

2025 2024
HKS$’000 HK$000
Tt Tt
Loss for the year attributable TR FHE A B A R B s 1R 2
to the owners of the Company for A BB N REAS AF A S 4R
the purposes of basic and diluted
loss per share (1,063) (61,394)
Weighted average number of ordinary i i #1535 5 I 5L A I i s 48 2
shares for the purpose of calculating 5 % I Jill FE T~ 15 8
basic and diluted loss per
share 288,746,532 288,746,532
The calculation of diluted loss per share for the years BE X TRAE R R TR A =
ended 30 April 2025 and 2024 does not assume the exercise H Lk 4 B2 R % 4 v s 48 9 1 380 300 e e
of the Company’s outstanding share options since their AN T 22 ARAT B I REHEAT (8 5 b Y e
assumed exercise would result into the anti-dilutive effect. 1B R 5% S T I M AT A e A S i K
JHE o
DIVIDEND 14. KA
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended ANFREE_Z_HEMA =+H 1k
30 April 2025, nor has any dividend been proposed since AR RE I A R AT B R IR AT AR R A

et 3R DAAR I 8 ol UR (AR AT BB (=
T IO ) o

the end of the reporting period (2024: Nil).
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Ao B 255 A M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = F " FAFMH =+ H IEF

15. DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 15. &3 RAT7SMKNME R H

EMOLUMENTS/EMPLOYEES’ iy 4>

EMOLUMENTS

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S o R AT A T 4
EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the seven (2024: T REMTAAF LS (ZFUF:
seven) directors of the Company were as follows: L&) EFB ST

Independent non-executive directors

Executive directors (Note (ii)
Bk am S
WIS (WL i)
Phen
Li Tung Hoi Ping Tung Lai Chung Liu  Chu Chun
Lok Patrick  Siu Ching Sau Him Hoi Yan Rongrui ~ On Franco Total
% 4 2SR ] By AR Bt F 3 A
(Note (ii)
(Note (iif)) ~ (Note (i)  (Note (ii)) and (v))
(W7 i)

(Matai) (M)  (HiEa)) Kiv))
HKS'000 HK$’000 HKS000 HK$’000 HKS$000 HK$’000 HKS$000 HKS'000
Tt Tk Tt Tk T Tkt T Tkt

2025 “ROnE
Fees 4 - - 168 150 144 96 120 678
Other emoluments H A4
Salaries and other benefits AR = 1,437 = = = = = 1,437
Retirement benefit AR R R
scheme contributions - n - - - - - 2
- 1,509 168 150 144 96 120 2,187
2024 ZR YA
Fees Hi4 - - 168 240 144 96 120 768
Other emoluments oAb 4
Salaries and other benefits e bR - 3,392 - - - - - 3,392
Retirement benefit BRI AR B
scheme contributions - 170 - - - - - 170

- 3,562 168 240 144 96 120 4,330
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15.

Ao o B 5 R M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS/EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(1) The emoluments of Mr. Phen Hoi Ping Patrick (“Mr.
Phen”) shown above were for the services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company and
the Group. Mr. Phen was retired on 15 October 2024.

(i1) The emoluments of other executive directors and
independent non-executive directors of the Company
shown above were for the services as directors of the
Company.

(iii) Mr. Li Tung Lok (“Mr. Li”) passed away on 2 September
2023.

(iv) Mr. Lai Sau Him resigned on 15 August 2024.

Mr. Li, who passed away on 2 September 2023, was also
the chief executive of the Company and his emoluments
disclosure above include those for services rendered by him
as the chief executive.

The emoluments payable to directors of the Company as
approved by the board of directors of the Company on the
recommendation of the remuneration committee, are having
regarded to their individual duties and responsibilities with
the Company, remuneration benchmark in the industry and
prevailing market conditions.

During the years ended 30 April 2025 and 2024, no
emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to the
directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Except for Mr. Li, there was no arrangement under which
a director has waived or agreed to waive any emolument
during the years ended 30 April 2024.

Save for disclosed in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements, no significant transaction, arrangement and
contract in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company and the director’s connected party had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

15.

HEgE B AT B 4D H
M (4)

g B AT AR 2 (%)

wit

) LS RS (T2 58 ]) Z
B AR oy W) B AR AR T 2 R R S
Bl <o B e AR —F T UAE A T
HABAE -

(ii) b BT AR AR S B H AL AT S ST
FEMITEEM S I AN AEEMN
Il 745 B 4

(i)  FREE (T4 R _F =~
JUR = H o

(v)  BTaCAER ZFEAH TR
REAT: o

A (R =& =4 UA 2 H B IR
W AT AR 2 A AT RO b S R A T
B A8 A T 47 AR A AR 5 I < o

WA A 0% W) HE o 2 B G A R NS A%
F AN 2 B 2 B BB ~ A7 S 38 T L v
RE i il R B & B g 1F 2
SLHA A R e

W E X T RAE R F AR A
= H R AL ENE M AT S AT T
AN E) 2 A VB i B AR SR T 2
P =k i B A S [ IRF 2 8% il 5l VE £ i i A

(il
(5 o

AEE F T AEN A =4 H IR B
2= e A A A S i K TR] R AT T
P 45 114 42 Bk -

W Ak T 5 ik 3 MY R 34 P 48 B 4 41 > TR 4R
H B4R AT A IR ] > AR 2 ) T oL B A 42
B E B A B LA o F S S B R
T E R RS R RN 3 2
BT LR RAH -
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15.

o o B 5 i M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = F " FAFMH =+ H IEF

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 15, #WHRATBMBOMEREWN
EMOLUMENTS/EMPLOYEES’ W4 (%)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS & B i 4
The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals HAREHFMALEE -4 (ZF 1
included one (2024: one) executive director of the B —R) K RNFEHATES W& 5
Company, whose emolument is included above. The BB SCe R4 (=& 04 0 4) 3
aggregate emoluments of the remaining four (2024: four) FE A ) AT B B A
highest paid individuals who are neither a director nor T MBI
chief executive of the Company are as follows:
2025 2024
“EH&E —E N
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt Tt
Salaries and other benefits B4 K KA 4 A 8,653 8,000
Retirement benefit scheme R AR R F 3 AL 3
contributions 175 166
8,828 8,166
Their emoluments were within the following bands: W5 2 WG A~ B4
2025 2024
ZEORE SENE
Number of Number of
employees employees
HEPN H=PN4
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 # 5t — 1,500,000 7T 2 2
HK$2,500,001 - HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 #5 5T — 3,000,000% 7T 1
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7€ — 3,500,000% JC 1
4 4

During the years ended 30 April 2025 and 2024, no
emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to the five
highest paid individuals (including directors and employees)
as an inducement to join the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.

EE F RFEL F NENA
= BRI A A O SO A T
LARFHHFMAL (BFHERELER) 2
P <6 > A 5 im B A ) 2 i T A 7 I
HiH -
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o B 255 A M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Pr3& - B8 B i

Furniture, Moulds,
fixtures toolings and
Leasehold Leasehold and Motor Plant and production
properties  improvements equipment vehicles machinery films Total
TH#-
fil5 KR WHk  THAREE
Mm% LIE S Bk fi g it i3 Ay

HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tix T T T T T

COST A
At 1 May 2023 BoE-=%HH—H 119,804 50,925 31,216 4,198 170,372 75,950 452,465
Additions nE - 753 44 - 3461 - 4,258
Disposals HE - - (915) (2,843) - (3,758)
Transfer from right-of-use F MR s (atl7)

assets (Note 17) - - 857 - - 857
Exchange realignment [ 5.0 % - (2,512) (1,465) 27 (8,604) (3,862) (16,530)
At 30 April 2024 and REFZMEMA=TH R

1 May 2024 ZEZNERA—H 119,804 49,166 29,795 4,113 162,326 72,088 437,292
Additions NE - 849 31 598 2,513 - 3,991
Disposals HE - - - (723) - - (723)
Exchange realignment [ 51,5 % - (476) (268) (126) (1,618) (709) (3,197)
At 30 April 2025 REZZZHENA=ZTH 119,804 49,539 29,558 3,862 163,221 71,379 437,363
ACCUMULATED Ritii &

DEPRECIATION
At 1 May 2023 WoZ-ZFHA—H 22,627 47,554 29,006 3,101 147,573 75,950 325,811
Provided for the year R 3,996 599 1,136 540 1,639 - 7910
Disposals & - - (862) (2.843) - (3,705)
Transfer from right-of-use [ {f I & 4t (fifit17)

assets (Note 17) - - 214 - - 214
Exchange realignment [ 51,7 % - (2,345) (1,401) (12) (7.502) (3,862) (15,122)
At 30 April 2024 and REFZMEMA=TH R

1 May 2024 “EZNERA—H 26,623 45,808 28,741 2,981 138,867 72,088 315,108
Provided for the year R 3,993 807 488 426 3,159 - 8,873
Disposals i - - (7123) - - (723)
Exchange realignment E 5. 9% - (443) (263) (81) (1,393) (709) (2,889)
At 30 April 2025 REBZHENA=FH 30,616 46,172 28,966 2,603 140,633 71,379 320,369
CARRYING VALUES I T £
At 30 April 2025 REZZHENA=+H 89,188 3,367 592 1,259 22,588 - 116,994
At 30 April 2024 REFEZNENA=+H 93,181 3,358 1,054 1,132 23,459 - 122,184
The leasehold properties were used for securing the BE X AR R R UAEN A =
facilities granted to the Group (Note 28) for the years H kA B > A0 B W 26 F R 95 O A 4 [ 2

ended 30 April 2025 and 2024. M Rl EE (B E28) -
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o o B 5 i M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17, 4 0B % e
Leased
motor Leased
vehicles properties Total
MR MEmE Mt
HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$ 000
THE T THE T THE T
At 1 May 2023 Mo ZFE=FHnH—H 729 4,928 5,657
Additions NE 1,015 2,074 3,089
Depreciation e (267) (4,763) (5,030)
Transfer to property, plant and ##§ 2 7 25 - B 47 skt

equipment (643) - (643)
Exchange realignment ifE 58, 3 4 - (224) (224)
At 30 April 2024 and REETAEM A =B &

1 May 2024 TETIWAERH—H 834 2,015 2,849
Additions NE - 2,104 2,104
Depreciation g (200) (812) (1,012)
Early termination of lease RELIEHE - (1,613) (1,613)
At 30 April 2025 WZF_HAEMA=+H 634 1,694 2,328

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$2,435,000 (2024:
HK$2,945,000) are recognised with related right-of-
use assets of approximately HK$2,328,000 (2024:
HK$2,849,000) as at 30 April 2025. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

Depreciation on right-of-use assets T P RE R AT

Gain on early termination of lease R E Z it

ATE RENA=Z+H B HERRHE
BB & 492,435,0009 0 ( & P04
2,945,000%5 o6 ) K AH B E A ME & E A
2,328,000%5 o ( =% 0 4F : 2,849,000%5
JG) o bR A A EEA 0T B A 0 K R
25 40 > T 6 o w107 20 e AT T B2 5k o FH &
B A RS K SRR

Interest on lease liabilities HEAGEME (FEARE B A)

(included in finance costs)
Expenses relating to short-term leases %t HA FH & +H BH B 52

2025 2024
SEROHE T IE
HK$’000 HKS$’000
T T
1,012 5,030

(70 -

119 152

11,596 12,160
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17.

18.

Ao o B 5 R M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 17. MEMREEE (&)
During the year ended 30 April 2025, the Group leases PEELZHAENA =S+ HIEFE K
certain properties and motor vehicles for self-own use. EEEESTWERRFEEEH -HAES
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 3 to § F LA I3RS (ZF U4 3%
years (2024: 3 to 10 years). Lease terms are negotiated on 1045 ) 5T 57 o FH 8 3 5 7 {1 Al 5L 8 | o
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different P 35 25 R () A R B Aok A o A 7R L
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and R EEA R n] S A R A R R R A4 [
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the JE A #9049 22 630 18 A &9 ] 5 AT
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines 147 34 [
the period for which the contract is enforceable.
During the year ended 30 April 2025, the Group BE_FAFEMNA =+ HIEFRE A4E
transferred a motor vehicle included in the right-of-use 9] A A IO A R AL B AR o P
assets with carrying amount of approximately HK$Nil (2024: EE AR (A B FWon ( ZF YA
HK$643,000) to the property, plant and equipment upon 643,000%5 7T ) (1 — i 3 B LA S 4 3 M
full repayment of respective lease liabilities. i B i A
INVENTORIES 18. 1§
2025 2024
—E_HHE TR PUAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#T Tt
Raw materials and consumables A R B2 T FE 60,403 51,424
Work in progress 2 B 3,146 5,002
Finished goods and merchandise R ST 27,355 26,752
90,904 83,178
The movement of the allowance for inventories is presented a2 28T s
as follows:
2025 2024
B HE TR VU4
HK$’°000 HK$’000
Tt Tt
At the beginning of the reporting iR 1A
period 13,767 14,183
Reversal of allowance for inventories 17 £ 15 ¢ 1] (661) =
Exchange realignment [ifE 5, 3 B (129) (416)
At the end of the reporting period AR WK 12,977 13,767
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19.

o 5 R B
For the year ended 30 April 2025 #& % =ZF =AW H =+ H IL4F R
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES/ 19.

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

B By B U il M Bk e 4 B TR
(RS

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES U5 B I il HE Wk I

2025 2024

R HAE B =y 11t S

HKS$’000 HK$’000

Tt T

Trade receivables, gross JRE S E 5 B 3k A 4R 57,662 63,121
Less: Allowance for ECL W TS S TR (3,087) (4,681)

Trade receivables, net JESE 5 B 3K AR 54,575 58,440

Other receivables, gross Al R i 3 JE A AR 4,284 11,032
Less: Allowance for ECL W MG SRR (88) (112)

Other receivables, net At R Wi K I TR AR 4,196 10,920

Trade and other receivables, net & S R Ho A JRE A 3K VB v AE 58,771 69,360

At 30 April 2025 and 2024, the trade receivables were
denominated in USS.

The Group allows a credit period ranging from 30 to 90
days (2024: 30 to 90 days) to its trade customers. The
following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of
allowance for ECL, presented based on the invoice date at
the end of the reporting period:

MEEFDHAERCEF WENA=+H
JE Wi 52 5 R R DL 6 T RHE <

AEMG TEDFEF 2 EEHN T305E
90 H ( T PU4E :30F90H ) o A4
Ao WEW ™ B MR (410 Bk TE W M 6 s 1R
) HeBE 22 1 U 250 2 IR A A AR

2025 2024

- s [ R4

HKS$’000 HKS$’000

Tt T

Within 30 days 30HIN 22,405 23,080
Between 31 and 60 days 31HZ60H 18,219 22,006
Between 61 and 90 days 61 H Z90H 11,037 7,036
Over 90 days 90H DA E 2,914 6,318
54,575 58,440

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will apply
an internal credit assessment policy to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and define credit limits by
customer. Management of the Group closely monitors the
credit quality of trade receivables.

Details of ECL assessment are set out in Note 6.

TP He A AT AT 25 5 I AR AR B LT
EEFZERUFEEERS 2 FRER
A HLAT 4% P 25 B AR B
FEUEEERE SRR FEER-

A B TE AR B e 18 AT Al A R RO B R
6 o
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19.

20.

Ao o B 5 R M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES/ 19. B8 B 3 b HE Ok 1 4 B
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued) 3k (78)

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 3 & B WA K

2025 2024

—E_HHE TR P4

HK$’000 HK$’000

T# 0 Tt

Deposits, gross e 4 MR 2,436 2,824

Less: Allowance for ECL Tk TE S S e 1R B (67) (2)

Deposits, net i 45 T HR 2,369 2,822

Prepayments TE AT ZIH 3,120 4,488

5,489 7,310

Included in the Group’s deposits is an aggregate amount
of approximately HKS$2,105,000 (2024: HKS$2,239,000)
denominated in RMB.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 20.

Listed equity securities (Note) BT RAEE S (M aE)

AL 7 4% 4 R AR #92,105,0009 0T (—
K PU4E 1 2,239,000% ) Z B E AR
MEEE

8% 2 Sl A L A 2 4 i T

2025 2024
—F_hAE RN
HK$°000 HK$’000
T T
60,647 62,578

Note: The listed equity securities represent equity securities
listed in Hong Kong and are classified as held for trading
investment.

AR S A B R R R A
H A b T B AR R o
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21.

22.

o o B 5 i M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE

LOAN RECEIVABLES 21. B
2025 2024
“ERhAE e = 111
HK$’000 HKS$’000
Tt T
Fixed-rate loan receivables, gross TE S A R R R 87,251 80,930
Less: Allowance for ECL ok - TE AR B 4 A (41,837) (36,880)
Fixed-rate loan receivables, net 7B B R i B K T AR 45,414 44,050

The loan receivables were repayable in accordance with
the terms of the loan agreements and all loan receivables
are recoverable within 1 year (2024: 1 year). As at 30 April
2025 and 2024, no loan receivables were past due. The
effective interest rate of the loan receivables ranged from 8%
to 12% (2024: 8% to 12%) as at 30 April 2025.

Details of the ECL assessment are set out in Note 6.

W% S B B AR PR R R Wk 2 e B
i T R B RO — A (S AR
—AF) AT i S AR R
TPUEPD H =4 B BE R K I
WWEN RN FE AN A =11 JE
Wi A RO E B R R A T-8% & 12% (&
TPULE 8% % 12%) o

TS S 15 FFAG 18 R B ke

BOND RECEIVABLES 22, MEWBE S
2025 2024
HKS$’000 HK$’000
Tt T oo
Unlisted debt instruments, at — ] LT A R BT 2 9 LT
amortised cost, issued by TH > e 88 pUA
a listed company 20,000 20,000
Accrued interest receivables JRE A it S, 935 3,775
Bond receivables, gross JRE Ui ik 5 A 5E 20,935 23,775
Less: Allowance for ECL W TE A B R A (14,460) (12,537)
Bond receivables, net JRE Wi 5 2 T AE 6,475 11,238

On 3 June 2021, the Group subscribed a 2-year 6.5%
coupon unlisted straight bond at a nominal value of
HK$20,000,000 from a listed company (the “Bond Issuer”).
The effective interest rate is 6.30% per annum. The bond
could be early redeemed by the Bond Issuer and the
Company at 100% of the outstanding principal amount,
together with accrued interest after three months of the
issuance date of the bond and before the maturity date (i.e.:
3 June 2023).

As at 30 April 2025 and 2024, the bond receivables have
been delayed for the repayment from the Bond Issuer and
the Group is in negotiation with the Bond Issuer for the
revised repayment terms.

Details of the ECL assessment are set out in Note 6.

BT T —AENH = H o AR E A — [
EW AR (MEFHET AN R E 5
20,000,000 7C 2 W 4F- #16.5% = H 2 I b

9 T o BB AR P 3 /56.30% o i 1
FBTAMEM SMAKE LA (B
TR CEAERAZH) S T AN
i 14 R B8R 7 4 58 22 100 3 [W] JE =) B
bl A K (= T NN T < 7 1 7 N
AR A HE 2 100% H[R] R GRS 4R R )

B R E PUFENA = FH

SR 84T N IE A8 72 B UL 05 - A S IE
SRR 5 B AT N8 T A T2 e

TR B 18 57 Al 2 5 1 O [ LG o
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF
23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 23. Be&RkFHELXH
Cash and cash equivalents comprised of the followings: B4 B 45 W) B 4 1H H B S DA T 45 3
2025 2024
HK$’°000 HK$’000
T#T Tt
Cash at banks and on hand AT M F oL & 30,350 55,432
Time deposits TE W AE K 42,654 -
Deposits with other financial FE RO o Ath 455 il 486 496 1) 7 3K
institutions 5,040 3,106
Cash and cash equivalents, GABERERENWHE K
as presented in the consolidated 25 IF] Bl E B
statement of cash flows 78,044 58,538
Bank balances held by the Group comprised of bank A R A 2 SRAT A B B AR AR AT T
deposits which carried prevailing market interest rates per FI RS W SRAT AR 2K o SRAT A7 2R 2 SR 2
annum. The bank deposits have the original maturity of H 7% =B A 550 % e ] -
three months or less.
Included in the Group’s cash at banks and on hand is an AEBZLIT R FHRASPRBLD
aggregate amount of approximately HK$5,848,000 (2024: 5,848,000%% 71 ( — & — 0 4F : 5,459,000%%
HK$5,459,000) denominated in RMB. The remittance TC) Z A DL BRI < I 4 S e
of these funds out of the PRC was subject to exchange rh [ T M 28 AZ v B BOG Y R S8, PR A
restrictions imposed by the Government of the PRC. HLBR -
As at 30 April 2025, time deposits carry interest rate from R ZEZHEMHA =1 A7 R
3.88% to 4.02% per annum and denominated in USD with FI 33.88% 424.02% wt B3 PA 2 o FHE

an original maturity of within two months. JRE I B w R A LA o
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = F " FAFMH =+ H IEF

24. TRADE PAYABLES/OTHER PAYABLES 24. BB REA k1A HE A K U K
AND ACCRUED EXPENSES i E <]
TRADE PAYABLES B 5 MEAT 3k 5
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables B oy BEAT SR R s IR B A 2
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the G 2 BB BT
reporting period:
2025 2024
“ROHAE TR T4
HKS$’000 HKS$’000
T 0 Tt
Trade payables 2 5 AT IR
Within 30 days 30H A 6,561 8,143
Between 31 and 60 days 31HZE60H 6,170 6,844
Between 61 and 90 days 61H 290H 276 2,472
Over 90 days 90H L E 538 651
13,545 18,110

The credit period on purchases of goods is ranging from 30 WEZEEMAF30E90H (= F Y

to 90 days (2024: 30 to 90 days). A :30%90H) o
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED Ui M A ok 2 B HE B
EXPENSES
2025 2024
S N Y TR PR
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# 0 T T
Other payables and accrued expenses o Ath M A5} 3 & JE 514 F 67,198 63,276

A 2 HoAh AT B OE KRN A
57,783,000%5 y& ( — 2 — Y 4 : 58,806,000
#o0) DL RS -

Included in the Group’s other payables and accrued
expenses are of approximately HK$57,783,000 (2024:
HK$58,806,000) denominated in RMB.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25. FHA1ME
HKS$’000
F# T
At 1 May 2023 S S T S & 1,573
Decreases in contract liabilities as a result of R kA5 B N RERR 2 AT 5T A B 8
recognising revenues during the reporting period BE 2 IR A A A D
which has been included in the contract liabilities
at the beginning of the reporting period (1,573)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of #2508 & P i AE
consideration received from customers G &) A R
during the reporting period 2,430
At 30 April 2024 and 1 May 2024 WFE AN A =+ H K&
ZEZMNEHHA—H 2,430
Decreases in contract liabilities as a result of IR 3 15 300 0 Al R B A T R B K
recognising revenues during the reporting period B2 I g E A A B R
which has been included in the contract liabilities
at the beginning of the reporting period (2,430)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of R I B &P 5O (5 28 5
consideration received from customers G H A&
during the reporting period 1,802
At 30 April 2025 HZEZHAEMHA = +H 1,802

The contract liabilities represent the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods for which the Group has received
consideration. The contract liabilities would be recognised
as revenue within one year. The Group recognises revenue
when “control” of goods and services is transferred to the

customers.

& A BRSSO 2 W IR i 2
B AT o 5 20 BT R — 4R IR e R
TN AR o A% S5 T B il B s 1 [ o e
WAL 2555 IR B R A A

%ér H>
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE
26. OTHER BORROWINGS 26. HAbA £
2025 2024
ZRIRE CFNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt Tt
Borrowings from a director of a AN ) W S /) — 2 S R AR
subsidiary of the Company (Note) &3 (BEE) 11,873 14,022
Carrying amount shown under B B A T 2 AR R
current liabilities:
Repayable on demand TR TR 11,873 14,022
Note: The other borrowings represented the borrowings from BitaE : A A B G AR 2 R A R AR g AR R I

Mr. Li, the former director of the Company. During the
year ended 30 April 2024, the legal and beneficial titles
of such borrowings have been passed to Ms. Su Ching
Wah Theresa, the spouse of Mr. Li and a director of a
subsidiary of the Company, after Mr. Li passed away on 2
September 2023.

Such borrowings were interest-free, unsecured and
repayable on demand as at 30 April 2025 and 2024.

E’J'TEIT}\ @ii;’égﬂﬁzmﬂ +H
AR B A R T ZAEJUH
A 45 - 5% 55 8 3R 2 B 8 R T g T
AREC T 72504 2 WA S AR A F
—[H BB A\l 2 R R E

A F AR R R AR A = A
>524P1§¥ki’]?%ﬁa% » B AIC AT K 7 1
Ekf’

27. LEASE LIABILITIES 27. MBEAfE
Present value
Minimum of minimum
lease payments lease payments
B A0 L 5 £ K
I fIG AL 8% £ 5k Z BUE
2025 2024 2025 2024
ZERE S R CNF SRR RN
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
il i T il T
Within one year —4 N 987 987 914 877
More than one year but less ~ —4E LA I Hi4F
than two years PLIA 987 987 947 915
More than two years but less i 4F A I F4F
than five years LA 584 1,193 574 1,153
B 2,558 3,167 2,435 2,945
Less: Future finance charges % : KA & % H (123) (222) N/A A3 H N/A A3
Present value of lease L RS 2 BUE
obligations 2,435 2,945 2,435 2,945
Less: Amount due for W A28 H A
settlement within R Fa ?ﬁ Z
12 months (shown S (BN RE
under current liabilities) AREIET) (914) ®77)
Amount due for settlement A 1248 H 4% 3
after 12 months akiE e 1,521 2,068
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 27. MEAfE (E)

The Group entered into lease arrangements with A A (9] B ST 5 = 7 kA T 3 R
independent third parties in relation to certain properties FTOL AR & PR o T B AR A T35 54 (=
and motor vehicles. The lease terms ranged from 3 to DU 3FEN04E) Nl E A EER 2
5 years (2024: 3 to 10 years). The weighted average JRESF- ¥ 18 5 1 B4R RSB A T2.75% &
incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities 3.05% ( =F U4 £ 2.75% %3.99%) °

range from 2.75% to 3.05% (2024: 2.75% to 3.99%).

BANK BORROWINGS 28. #THE R
The variable-rate bank borrowings are repayable as follows: TP ARAT S 2 R R
2025 2024
SR T TR 4R
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# T T
Unsecured bank borrowing TR ERAT 151 10,665 -
Secured bank borrowings R AT 1 & 33,785 35,372
44,450 35,372
Carrying amount repayable (based on scheduled repayment JRE 7 LA A 0 2 Y MR T A (R 4 A
dates as set out in the loan agreements): F Toh R T R T R R A H )
2025 2024
HKS$’000 HK$’000
Tt THT
Within one year —4E R 12,346 1,543
After one year but less than two years — 44 {H /i 4F " 1,733 1,600
After two years but less than five years W 4% {H 1 4F [N 5,519 5,160
After five years HLAFRK 24,852 27,069
44,450 35,372
Carrying amount of bank borrowings T ZH i ik & HA R AL 71— 4F A
that are not repayable within AR A e B SR AR R
one year from the end of the ZRATIE IR TH A
reporting period but contains a (IR B B EEHT)
repayment on demand clause
(shown under current liabilities) 32,104 33,829
Carrying amount repayable within ZEA —AF N B R B AL R R
one year and contains a repayment IR ek 2 MR T 4 38
on demand clause 12,346 1,543
44,450 35,372
Less: Amount shown under current BRI B BRI T 2 &8
liabilities (44,450) (35,372)
Amount shown under non-current IR E A E T 2
liabilities ok = =
As at 30 April 2025 and 2024, the Group’s secured bank MW EFE - HER FENFENA=+H >
borrowings were secured by the leasehold properties held AEE G IRIFRITEREUALBFAD

by the Group (Note 16). THEWELEWELR (KEEL6) -
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = F " FAFMH =+ H IEF

28. BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 28. ST (4
The exposure of the Group’s bank borrowings are as AR SR AT A B T B 2 R B A T
follows:
2025 2024
R _HAE TR U
HK$’000 HK$000
T#T THE T
Fixed rate borrowing E B A 10,665 -
Variable rate borrowings 7S 33,785 35,372
The Group’s variable rate borrowings carry interests at AR AR ] 2 3 B R e 1 R % A182.5%
2.5% per annum below prime rate. The Group’s fixed-rate ZAEFRGET R o AR 2w BUE B A
borrowing carries interests at 3.2% per annum. K 32% 7R -
The range of annual effective interest rates (which were A S T SR AT A 1 E R AR R R (U A %
also equal to contracted interest rates) of the Group’s bank A H R 3R ) 8 T
borrowings were as follows:
2025 2024
ZFTRE CFONF
Effective interest rate FE TR S 3.0%-3.2% 3.63%
29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. AR
Number of
shares Nominal value
Bt 4 % H T
HK$°000
TH#T
Authorised : BT
At 1 May 2023, 30 April 2024, REFEZ=FRA—H
1 May 2024 and 30 April 2025 4E POAEI A =+ H »
TERTWAETA—H &
“HERENA=+H
— Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each — B BETE{EO0.019 7T 2 % 4 Ak 120,000,000,000 1,200,000
Redeemable preference shares of o R TRT (0. 0295 76 2 i J [e 48 5 ik
HK$0.02 each
At 1 May 2023, 30 April 2024, EGJE* —“HHA—H
1 May 2024 and 30 April 2025 CEZNENA=Z+F
ZERZNETH—H K&
“EZ_RAENA=+H 500,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid : CBAT AU
At 1 May 2023, 30 April 2024, AR AR 2R
1 May 2024 and 30 April 2025 lﬂlﬁ THZZZNERA—H K
“E_RENA=+H

— Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each — B BEE(E0.0 135 7T 2 % 4 Ik 288,746,532 2,887
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% —F " T4 =+ H I

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to equity holders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net
debt, which includes other borrowings (Note 26), bank
borrowings (Note 28), lease liabilities (Note 27), net of
cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital,
share premium and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As a part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with the issued share capital. The Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the issue of
new shares as well as raising new other borrowings and
repayment of existing other borrowings, if necessary.

The externally imposed capital requirements for the
Group are: (i) in order to maintain its listing on the Stock
Exchange it has to have a public float of at least 25% of
the shares; and (ii) to meet financial covenants attached to
the interest-bearing borrowings.

RETIREMENT AND PENSION SCHEMES

The Group currently participates in MPF Scheme for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes
5% of the relevant payroll costs or capped at HK$1,500
(or higher percentage based on the choice of employees)
to the MPF Scheme in Hong Kong, which contribution is
matched by employees.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC
are members of retirement benefits schemes operated by
the PRC government. The relevant PRC subsidiaries were
required to contribute certain percentages of the monthly
salaries of their current employees to fund the benefits. The
employees were entitled to retirement pension calculated
with reference to their basic salaries on retirement and
their length of service in accordance with the relevant
government regulations. The PRC government was
responsible for the pension liability to the retired staff.

29.

30.

JBeA (#5)

B A o B 4 1L

A G2 A B AR LA AR A 4 R R
e AE 45 A A > (7] IRF 125 8 4R L R0 SELAE 23
fH] 2 Y- 1 7% M i 455 A A A d K [l i o

AR AR ] 2 R B R RS (S
fib £ (B 3E26) ~ SRAT A5 B (B 3E28) »
B & (FfaE27) ) Bk & K 55 [0 35
SIEHE DA S FHEA NGRS (B
T OB AT A~ e s A e el ) -

A ) AR AR N - A B AR
w2 — W A F S A A R
SHL L B AT BCAS AR ) 2 Ja B o A S B 028 0t
AT Iy LA B T8 B L AR 1 B % AHOR
BUA FARAE B (075 20 P LR R
ARG

A A ) ZE 3 S 0 4 e o AR B SR AL A
(i) 25 HE 45 75 W 252 B B9 BT e i > 8 R FF
BB E D H 5% 5 R (i) S R B A
1 4 5 4240 -

AR BB K 4wl 3l
ALEHBERM BB EBSEHREES N
WG B GBI EEEZTNEBET
DIESE B AER GENHIES-
AL A BT B AR 2 5% S LA, 5005
TR B BR (SRR B0 & H A )
Tia] 75 s T A 4 AL > B Bk R AH
A o

A0 ) R JE O W 2 B TS B
I 4 A% 1A R R AR 5T B 89 BB < A B
Mg ArZEERAR THRZETER
EOARR > DL 2y A R A ) 488 o AR R I
JERLBI . B T =4 2B R4 Ty HR AR
b5 2 FEAR 7 i S RS A AR o o B U
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30.

31.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #&% ZZF = FAFEWH =+ H IL4FEE

RETIREMENT AND PENSION SCHEMES
(continued)

Contributions to the above schemes for the year ended 30
April 2025 made by the Group amounted to approximately
HKS$7,914,000 (2024: HK$8,229,000). There were no
forfeited contributions utilised during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 to reduce future contributions.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Scheme”)
was adopted pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed
on 15 September 2015 (the “Adoption Date”), which has
a terms of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date
and will be expired on 14 September 2025. The purpose
of the Scheme is to provide the eligible participants (the
“Eligible Participants”) as defined in the Scheme with
the opportunity to acquire interests in the Company and
to encourage the Eligible Participants to work towards
enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for the
benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.
The Board may grant options to the Eligible Participants,
including, but not limited to, (a) any employee (whether
full-time or part-time, including any executive directors but
excluding any non-executive director) of any member of
the Group or any entity in which any member of the Group
holds any equity interest (the “Invested Entity”); and (b)
any non-executive directors of any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity.

A share option granted by the Company is exercisable at
any time or times during the option period determined by
the directors of the Company. The Eligible Participants
who accepted the offer of the option (the “Guarantee”)
are not required to achieve any performance targets before
any option granted under the Scheme can be exercised. The
date of the expiry of the share option determine by the
Board which shall not be later than the 10th anniversary
of the commencement date in respect of such share option.
The option acceptance date should not be later than 28
days after the date of offer. The exercise price (subject to
adjustment as provided therein) of the option under the
Scheme shall be determined by the Board but shall not be
less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares; (ii)
the closing price per share as stated in the daily quotation
sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which
must be a business day; or (iii) the average closing price
per share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheet for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant of the options.

30.

31.
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (continued)
SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed
such number of shares as required under the Listing
Rules, being 10% of the shares in issue as Adoption Date,
excluding the shares which would have been issuable
pursuant to the options which have lapsed pursuant to the
Scheme. As at 30 April 2025 and 2024, the number of share
options available for grant under the Scheme is 22,562,211
(2024: 22,562,211). At the date of this report, the total
number of shares available for issuance upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Scheme was 22,562,211,
which represented approximately 7.8% of the issued share
capital of the Company at such date.

During the year ended 30 April 2025, no share options
were granted under the Scheme (2024: Nil). As at 30 April
2025, the outstanding share options of 1,666,666 (2024:
2,184,166) representing approximately 0.58% (2024: 0.76%)
of the issued share capital of the Company. However, the
total maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding share options must not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. The number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted to any one grantee in any
12-month period is not permitted to exceed 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue in such 12-month period up
to and including the proposed date of grant, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders.

31.

JBE AN &5 55 DL I8 3 2y 3% W 2 A 5k A8
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = F " FAFMH =+ H IEF

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 31.  BeAS &S 5500 BBy 2 JE 0 2 A ik 38
PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (continued) Y (#8)
SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) W JBE B T ()
Movement during the year ENZEE)
The following table discloses movements of the Company’s R PR AN T E R R B TR A
share options held by the directors of the Company and TH R 2 AN B B RO I 7 4 TR 2 S )

employees under the Scheme during both years:

During the During the
year ended year ended
30 April 2024 30 April 2025
REE REE
SR [t oty 2
WA=+R WA=+H
4B LA
Outstanding at
Exercise Outstanding at 30 April 2024 Outstanding at
Option type Date of grant price  Exercisable period 30 April 2023 Forfeited ~ and 1 May 2024 Forfeited 30 April 2025
REBZWE
WA=+HE
REBDZA SR REFDHAE
WA=+H LA—H WA=+H
ik ¢ 00 zHHH T M JHAAT A [SHLS AT SRS I A AT B
HKS
I
Directors 22 April 2016 22 April 2016 -
744 21 April 2026 1,791,667 (1,375,000) 416,667 (416,667) -
% FRENA R FRENACHORE
ZERZAEMAZA-H
14 September 2018 14 September 2018 -
096 13 September 208 333333 (1,666,666) 1,666,666 - 1,666,666
ZER-NELATEA ZE-NEMATEARE
CEZENATZH
Employees 22 April 2016 22 April 2016 -
744 21 April 2026 100,833 - 100,833 (100,833) -
fE& SE-REMAZE A CE-AENACTORE
CEZREMAZA—H
5205832 (3,041,666) 2,184,166 (517,500) 1,666,666
Exercisable at the TR A AT ff
end of the year 5,205,832 2,184,166 1,666,666
Weighted average T4 171
exercise price HKS3307#7C  HKSISOHTE  HKS249507C  HKST440TE  HKSO.960% 70
Under the Scheme, share options can be exercised at any MR wE & > W B ] A A7 5 300 A B R AT
time during the exercise period. The grantees are not i o MEBZ NAEAT (5 AR 95 51 & JE 1% 2 AT AT
required to achieve any performance targets before any Ji% M T D 2 3 B AT ol SE 4K H A -
option granted under the Scheme can be exercised.
No equity-settled share-based payment was recognised as BME X DRAE R SR TOAET A =
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss H 1k A7 B2 A Sl 0 i B A 46 53 D I 1y o
and other comprehensive income during the years ended 30 e 2 AT O %5 A 48 5 B At A T Ui 25 3R

April 2025 and 2024. w8 2 B 3 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32.

33.

Ao o B 5 R M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

PLEDGE OF ASSETS 32. &N
At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount AR B K 2 3t — THI SR AT 1) A 42 1 32
of the assets pledged by the Group to a bank in order to 0 $RAT B HEAT IR AR > A 2 I P K40
secure a banking facility granted by a bank to the Group ) J T (4N R BT s
was as follows:
2025 2024
“EROHE S F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T 0 THTT
Leasehold properties (Note 16) HEWE (Kit16) 89,188 93,181
COMMITMENT 33. 7Rk
CAPITAL COMMITMENT AR

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
outstanding capital commitment as follows:

TR K A S AR AT 2 AR
i

2025 2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
T# 0 T
Capital expenditure in respect of A R ) 3 e
acquisition of property, plant and B 2RI AERTE
equipment contracted for but not KR W BT R R B A
provided in the consolidated ZEAB 3L
financial statements 1,974 22,681
LEASE COMMITMENT RIS R I
The Group as lessee A A 2 R AN

The Group entered into a short-term lease for a factory
located in the PRC. As at 30 April 2025, the portfolio
of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-
term leases to which the short-term lease expense
disclosed in Note 17. As at 30 April 2025, the outstanding
lease commitment relating to this short-term lease is
HK$11,496,000 (2024: HK$11,496,000).

S BRI AR B A R B T ST A LAY
AR RAENA=ZTH HEHHEAS
BEL S 5 17 T 9 8 o 00 AL 6 AL S A OB Y
MHEHAHEE - R FZHFENA =+
H > Bl S1AE B A B RO 1 AT AR R I8
11,496,000 7 ( —% — P04 : 11,496,000
#IT) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34.

35.

o o B 5 i M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = F " FAFMH =+ H IEF

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In the ordinary course of its business, the Group entered
into the following balances and transactions with related
parties:

COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT
PERSONNEL

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other
members of key management during the year were as

34. BHWRTT B S

ASE T B W SRS R A h BB O AR
&5k ALy
FERFMARZHM

AL F H R HA E A B B ER
ZMEmT

follows:

2025 2024
ZERhAE == 111
HKS$’000 HK$’000
Tt T
Fees, salaries and other benefits M4~ 34 M = A AR 11,242 12,628

Retirement benefit scheme FER N I R
contributions 319 404
11,561 13,032

The remuneration of directors of the Company and key
management is determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 30 April 2025, the Group had
additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
approximately HK$2,074,000 and HK$2,074,000 (2024:
HK$3,089,000 and HK$3,089,000) respectively.

35.

ARNFER R EEEINE M4 Ty
2 B 2% 0 N R BT  5 1%
it 5 o

B 45 B4 UL B A Y i
FEEBERY

REE CF HAFAMNA =+ HIEFE A
45 ) {0 ) BE O A RO AR 40 B T &Y
2,074,000 7T }22,074,000% 7T ( & Y
4F 1 3,089,000% 7T £2.3,089,000%5 7T ) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35.

Ao o B 5 R M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 35. HZTBlaeRiaRTmE: ()
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES Tl 5 W) A 2k 2 A 40 R
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Bank Other Lease
borrowings  borrowings liabilities Total
sigme Hafis - HEAR M
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt T T T T T
At 1 May 2023 MoFZ=ZFHA—H 36,860 15,628 6,278 58,766
Additions NE - - 3,089 3,089
Accrued interest JE w5t LS 1,301 - 152 1,453
Interest paid 2 A5 A (1,301) - (152) (1,453)
Financing cash outflows Fl B 4 U (1,488) (1,606) (6,178) (9,272)
Exchange realignment E 5, 34 % - - (244) (244)
At 30 April 2024 and P FZENHA =+
1 May 2024 M ZFEZMNETH—H 35,372 14,022 2,945 52,339
Additions NHE - - 2,104 2,104
Early termination of lease {2 F#& 1L & - - (1,683) (1,683)
Accrued interest JE =t LS 1,185 - 119 1,304
Interest paid 2 A3 F (1,185) - (119) (1,304)
Financing cash outflows Rl & B 48 U (1,587) (2,149) (931) (4,667)
Financing cash inflows Pl 3R 4 A 10,665 - - 10,665
At 30 April 2025 AZEZHAEWA =+H 44,450 11,873 2,435 58,758
TOTAL CASH FLOWS FOR LEASE REB & EMH
Cash outflows included in the consolidated statement of MAEF AL A E SRR RN B &R
cash flows for leases comprise the followings: SEAREL S
2025 2024
B R TR A
HK$’°000 HKS$’000
T# 0 T
Within operating cash flows REREEN 11,596 12,160
Within financing cash flows REH & EN 1,050 6,330
12,646 18,490
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36.

22 /A
ARA

S 5 i M ek

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = F " FAFMH =+ H IEF

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

36.

The followings are the particulars regarding the Company’s
subsidiaries at 30 April 2025 and 2024 which principally
affect the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that a full
list of all the subsidiaries will be of excessive length.

These subsidiaries operate principally in the place of

establishment/incorporation unless otherwise indicated.

Name of subsidiaries

i} PRk

The Industrial Investment
Company Limited

QPL (Holdings) Limited
WELEARAA

QPL Limited
RERRATF

Place of
establishment/

incorporation/operation  Principal activities

R/ R/
HEWS

Cayman Islands

REHRS

Hong Kong
Eik

Hong Kong
Eit

FEEH

[nvestment holding

BERR

Investment holding

BERR

Manufacture and sale of
integrated circuit
leadframes, heatsinks,
stiffeners and
related products

Paid up

registered capital/
Issued share capital
CHtiEA/
SRRA

2,050 ordinary shares
of HKSI each

20508 BB ELE T
ba il

408,000,772 ordinary
shares of
HKS$0.04 each
408,000,772
i {E0.04% 7T 2 L4

2 ordinary shares of
HKS! each and
1,000 non-voting
deferred shares of
HKS! each (Note (b))

RERHERNERII G MeBRAMEIELL

A R R

L1 0000 B I
i1 T 2 B
ELRNG ()

A2 ) B RHE A i Z R

AR Bt & R AR K & P04 A
= A R AL A EE A
AN FME AT FERE AR AT EH
Ry B T M A T 2 4 B R T
o B A TR AN > 5% 55 I E 4N | R
HRGST M A S b B 4

Proportion of nominal value of
registered capitalfissue share capital held by

PR A/ CRITRAZ A
Company Subsidiary
KA WS 2
2025 2024 2025 2024
B % X S S S % ¢ —"
% % % %
244 244 97.56 97.56
100 100 - -
- - 100 100
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For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

36.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Name of subsidiaries

il Pk

QPL (US) Inc.

Enma Holdings Limited

Quality Capital Limited
WEEAERAT

Excellence Strive
Holdings Limited

Dongguan Changan QPL

Place of
establishment/

incorporation/operation  Principal activities

R/ R/
HEWS

The USA
]

British Virgin Islands
EREARE

Hong Kong
Eik

British Virgin Islands
EREARE

The PRC

Electronics Manufacturing 4'H

Company Limited (Note ()
FEREREETHEAR

WAl (it ()

Notes:

EVEL )

Distribution of integrated
circuit leadframes and
investment holding

Y B 3 e
Rt EE R

Securities trading, and sale of

chips and related product
B EE A E LT LA

Ef

Provision of financial
assistance and advance

BULITH & B Bk

Property investment

VESE

Manufacture and sale of
integrated circuit
leadframes, heatsinks,
stiffeners and
telated products

S B E AR B R AE
BUAS TR 1F JARBE A

36. A EERIE A W Z R (4)

Paid up

registered capital/
Issued share capital
CHEMEA/
SRITRA

150,603 ordinary shares
of no par value,
paid up to
USS4,071,281
150,603 S m e
CRESLTB1F T

1 ordinary share of
USS1 each

IREREEIET
Va3l

1 ordinary share of
HKS! each
e 1
Fidlt

| ordinary share of
USS! each

e 1 %
LEk

HKS$15,000,000% ¢

(a) Operating principally in the PRC and established as a
wholly-foreign owned enterprise in PRC.

(b) The deferred shares, which are held by the Group, are
practically of no economic value.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
at any time during both reporting or at the end of both

periods.

ANNUAL REPORT 2025 4F#t

Proportion of nominal value of
registered capitalfissue share capital held by

PRI A /TR AR A T

Company Subsidiary

A4 BB Al
2025 2024 2025 2024
CRORE CERCNE CECHE CZCNE
% % % %
06.4 06.4 3.6 336
100 100 - -
- - 100 100
100 100 - -
- - 100 100

(a) BT o A R AR B A 1 A 3

AE B ST

(b) H A S R A 2 AR A T 7 B B
A ] 78 %48 (L o

A T 1R o5 393 1A AT B T B A R
YR 5 MR 4 YR 4 ) R AT AT AT RS R

% o
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37.

o o B 5 i M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = F " FAFMH =+ H IEF

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  37.

OF THE COMPANY AND RESERVE

A 2 i) 2 W BN O A B Gl A 52 )

MOVEMENT
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF AR 2 W B DL %
THE COMPANY
2025 2024
B HAE TE A
HK$’000 HKS$’000
Tt THTT
Non-current assets I IR B B
Investments in subsidiaries A R B E 431 431
Current assets i B
Amounts due from subsidiaries JRE WAz BfF Jo 2 ] 3k 0E 79,369 136,900
Cash and cash equivalents W& RFERB4ER 3,426 8,925
82,795 145,825
Current liabilities i B 1R
Amounts due to subsidiaries JRE AS A Jo 2 ] 3k 0 230,580 231,453
Other payables and accrued expenses - fth B 455 2 JE K JRE 51 2 2,941 1,165
233,521 232,618
Net current liabilities b B =R (150,726) (86,793)
Net liabilities A FE (150,295) (86,362)
Capital and reserves B A
Share capital (Note 29) A (it iE29) 2,887 2,887
Share premium and reserves Je A5 v A I At (153,182) (89,249)
Capital deficiencies & A e Al (150,295) (86,362)
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Ao o B 5 R M

For the year ended 30 April 2025 #% = ZF ZFA4FM H =+ H IEF

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  37. 72wl 2 W %R Ot 3 B fili 5 % )
OF THE COMPANY AND RESERVE (#8)
MOVEMENT (continued)
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY AR i) 22 fili i 5 )
Capital Share
Share  Contributed  redemption options  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
BRI i
Bt ERER fik M RibER F-Eil
HKS$'000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HK$000 HK$'000
T T T T T T
At 1 May 2023 RoZZ=FEA—H 720,032 309,750 12,310 9,801 (1,064,233) (12,340)
Loss and total comprehensive AEEER R AR AE
expense for the year - - - - (76,909) (76,909)
Forfeiture of share options (Note 31)  WUUIBMHE (#7231) - - - (9,546) 9,546 -
At 30 April 2024 and 1 May 2024 REZZEZMEDA =1+ H &
“ETNERA—R 720,032 309,750 12,310 255 (1,131,596) (89,249)
Loss and total comprehensive RAEREE R 2T LA
expense for the year - - - - (63,933) (63,933)
Lapse of share options (Note 3/) TR ILHESR A (7231 - - - (185) 185 -
At 30 April 2025 REZFEZRENA=1H 720,032 309,750 12,310 70 (1,195344)  (153,182)
38. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 38. WML AEm

On 8 July 2025, the Company entered into the placing
agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to place, through the
placing agent on a best effort basis, up to 57,744,000
placing shares at the placing price of HK$0.16 per placing
share to not less than six placees who are individuals,
corporate, institutional, or other investors that are third
parties independent of the Company and its connected
persons.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 8 July 2025.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other significant
subsequent events occurred that materially affected the
Group’s financial condition or operation after 30 April
2025 and up to the date of this report.

AT RAE-BH VH AN F) B AT

FRFT 7 T B Wk > BB U AR B R A [
T S R B e A O e D
J T B 1730 1635 IC 7] A 20 74 75 44 7K it A
( By 98 ST A S ) S H BN+ 2 58 =
RN~ 2w RS B A 4R ) e
257,744,000 % fit & By

AW S MA AR B R %
PN YN

Br ESCRT R ER E SN R R A
=+ & EARS B LR 0 A
A 3 A £ ) 2 5 K UL B A EE R
RBZERMEEHR-
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EA 75 1BE 2

The financial summary of the Group for the past five financial — AS4E i 8k B © M 0 838 1 45 & M R 19
years, as extracted from the Group’s published audited  #{E Fu{f B B4R 5 2 BA 8 HE 22k 50 s -
consolidated financial statements, are set out below:

REVENUE AND LOSS FOR THE YEAR K ¥ PN TRy i
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY
For the year ended 30 April
WEWH =1 H L4 E

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
SR C-FE DR DR CO=ZF DFONFE ZF A
HKS$’000 HK$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HK$000
T T T T SR
Revenue & 368,321 488,048 312,928 262,699 301,451
(Loss)/profit before tax BRBLAD (BE4R) Rl (11,845) 10,828 (33,579) (61,300) (480)
Income tax expense JiT A3 4 B (360) (726) (740) (94) (583)
(Loss)/profit for the year E/NGIE: 2PN A
attributable to owners of ER(EER) A
the Company (12,205) 10,102 (34,319) (61,394) (1,063)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ e R AR
At 30 April
RMA=+H
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
TR CE DR TERCSE TEDUE R
HKS$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$°000 HK$000
T T T T SR
Non-current assets I B g 158,204 148,800 132,311 125,033 119,322
Current assets TE G 453,007 480,819 397,450 336,252 345,744
Current liabilities i) A (188,483) (212,370) (141,883) (134,754) (140,450)
Non-current liabilities i m A E (30,805) (6,749) (443) (2,068) (1,521)
391,923 410,500 387,435 324,463 323,095
Share capital e A 1,880 2,256 2,887 2,887 2,887
Share premium and reserves I A7 s 5 1 s 390,043 408,244 384,548 321,576 320,208

391,923 410,500 387,435 324,463 323,095
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